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Leslie Lyle Campbell, one of the founders and a leadin 



benefactor of the Rockbridge Historical Society, this sixth volume of the 
Proceedings is respectfully dedicated. Not only was he one of the 
Society's charter members and first presidents, but he also edited the 
first volume of the Proceedings, gave numerous books, artifacts and 
pictures to the Society's collections and at his death left his house, 
garden and a large sum of money to the Society. The organization 
is deeply indebted to this great and gentle scholar for his generosity. 

The Campbell Clan of Virginia has produced many ministers 
and teachers. And one of the more prominent teachers was Dr. 
Leslie L. Campbell, who was born at Campo Bello in Powhatan 
County, September 17, 1863, and brought up in Richmond. He was 
the son of Dr. William Addison Campbell and Virginia Eppes 
Dance Campbell. In 1882, he was graduated from the McGuire 
&hool in Richmond and received his MA from Washington and 
Lee University in 1887 and his PhD in 1891. While at W & L, he 
was made a charter member of Phi Beta Kappa and student assistant 
in the mathematics department under President G. W . Custis Lee. 
In 1893, he married Catherine Estill Houston of Lexington. 

Dr. Campbell was known as both a fine teacher and remarkable 
research scholar. After teaching for a short period at the Fishburne 
Military Academy, he was appointed physics instructor at West­
minster College in Fulton, Missouri. In 1903-04, he was made a 
Harvard research fellow and worked there with the noted physicist, 
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Dr. S. H. Hall, on what was called the ''Hall Effect." This important 
study was prepared for publication by Dr. Campbell. From there 
he went on to head the department of physics at Simmons College 
in Boston where he remained for twenty-six years until 1932. In 
1913-14, while on a sabbatical at Cambridge University in England, 
he studied with Sir ]. ]. Thompson at the Cavendish Laboratory. 
During the World War I years, he worked both at the Jefferson 
Laboratory at Harvard and the Naval Training Station at Newport, 
Rhode Island, doing research for the United States Navy. 

Upon retirement in 1932, he and Mrs. Campbell returned to 
Lexington to occupy the house of Mrs. Campbell's brother, Professor 
Hale Houston of the W ashington and Lee faculty. Here Dr. Campbell 
continued his experiments in magnetism, photography, and sun dials. 
The lovely _old garden behind the house was the constant interest of 
both Dr. Campbell and his wife. 

Dr. Campbell was a member of a number of scientific societies, 
and author of scientific articles. Increasingly in Lexington his scholarly 
interests turned to genealogy and, when in his eighties, he prepared 
volumes on the Dance, Campbell and Houston families. He continued 
a keen and active interest in the Historical Society until his death 
on June 9, 1964, at the age of 100 years. He is buried at the Stonewall 
Jackson Memorial Cemetery. 

Perhaps to no one does the Historical Society owe a greater debt . 
To no one did the Historical Society give greater pleasure. D 

ocar Wilde said journalism is unreadable, and 
literature is not read. Unfortunately, local history volumes are in 
many cases both. With this in mind, we have made an effort to 
present here, in a somewhat different form, five years' worth of 
Rockbridge Historical Society papers and at the same time to 
provide a reference aid which will be useful to those doing further 
research on local history. 

A number of the papers include material published for the first 
time and several important personalities in the County's history are 
dealt with quite skillfully. Unfortunately, due to the space allotted, 
it has been necessary to condense some papers somewhat, and several 
have been omitted either at the request of the writers or because the 
papers were not available. 

Included is a biographical and topical index of the entire six 
volumes--over twenty five years of papers presented before the 
Society. Taken together, these volumes, plus the new index, now 
make a rather complete reference source on Rockbridge County 
history. 



Among the Society's act1v1t1es during the past five years, has 
been an effort to bring about the preservation of the community's 
architectural and historic landmarks. The Society urged VMI to 
spare one of the original Alexander Jackson Davis buildings which 
was destined to be demolished to make way for a new building. 
Efforts here were unsuccessful, but the group was extremely en, 
couraged to learn that the Department of Interior plans to name 
the VMI barracks, also designed by Davis, a "National Historic 
Landmark.,, 

On the other hand, efforts to encourage the national office of 
the Kappa Alpha Order not to demolish its building on Lee Avenue, 
known as the Barclay House, proved more successful. Because of 
strong urging by the Society and the APVA, the Fraternity decided 
to sell the building to Col. and Mrs. C. C. Tutwiler after learning 
that they would preserve the building and restore it to its original 
form. 

Also, as a result of quick action by the Historical Society, the 
valuable portraits of early Rockbridge judges and others, which 
had been removed from the County Courthouse, were located, 
restored and replaced on the walls of that building. In cooperation 
with the County Board of Supervisors and the County Bar As­
sociation a committee was appointed and funds allotted to assure 
the proper rehanging of the portraits. 

During 1965' the Society paid special tribute by resolution to 
the Lexington,Rockbridge County Chamber of Commerce for its 
new guided tour program of the County's and City's points of 
historic interest. The free tour has been highly successful economically 
and has brought considerable attention to the area. 

Also during the past five years great strides were made in almost 
all the Historical Society's fields of activity. Most notably, perhaps, 
was the receipt of the very valuable real estate from the late Dr. 
Leslie Lyle Campbell. The letters and papers he also left have added 
greatly to the Society's collection. 

These papers, photographs and books have now been catalogued 
and carefully preserved by the Librarian, Dr. Charles W. Turner. 
With help of several students, Dr. Turner has done a superb job 
in making the Society's valuable collection readily available to 

researchers. Among the materials are diaries, county newspapers, 
store ledgers, photographs, letters and journals. The Society's minute 
book reflects many of the tributes given Dr. Turner for his devotion 
and diligence in caring for the Library. He has also edited the two 
previous volumes of the Proceedings and handled the difficult task 
of procuring programs and speakers for the Society's quarterly 
meetings. 

It should be mentioned that a number of members of the Society 
have recently published books on local subjects, several of which 
are referred to in this volume. In addition, many inquiries were 
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answered by the Librarian and others, concerning County genealogy 
and other subjects, and the Society's museum in The Castle was 
enlarged and opened to the public from time to time. The rental 
property, which the Society now owns, is bringing in a modest 
income, and the Society, under the present leadership of Mr. Frank 
Gilliam, is indeed enjoying its finest hour. 

One of the projects which has been discussed by Society com­
mittees for almost 2 5 years is the labeling of buildings throughout 
the County and Lexington with proper historical information. This, 
together with the inventory now being done for the National Trust 
by the APV A, should do much to assist in the preservation of 
remaining historic landmarks in the area. And further, both the 
County and Lexington have begun to discuss the possibility of 
historic zoning. 

This sixth volume of the Proceedings has come into being through 
the combined efforts of a number of people. Particular thanks must be 
given to Dean Gilliam for his kind assistance and understanding 
and to the two immediate past presidents, Col. George M . Brooke, 
Jr., and Gen. J. S. Letcher, for their help. At the same time, the 
book could not have been published without the help of Mrs. F. 
William Burke, who typed the manuscript, and David Coffey, who 
assisted greatly with editing and with the index. Special mention 
must also be made of Dr. Turner, Col. John Barrett, Lt. Col. George 
Davis, Mrs. Charles McCulloch, M. W. Paxton, Jr., Mrs. Boyd Stuart 
and Alan Wheeler, whose advice and counsel proved invaluable. And 
to Dr. Forrest C. Pogue and Katie Lyle go special thanks for their 
constant encouragement. D 

T Society met February I, 1961, at the R. E. 
Lee Episcopal Church. The program was a talk by Col. George M. 
Brooke entitled: .. Japan, 1860, 1960." Col. Brooke, head of the VMI 
history department and president of the Society, was invited to 
Japan during the last two weeks of May, 1960, as guest of The 
Association for Japan-US Amity and Trade Centennial. In his 
talk to the Society, he told of the celebration in Japan which he and 
Mrs. Brooke attended. Col. Brooke had been invited partly because 
of the work of his grandfather, Lieutenant John Mercer Brooke, who 
had done much 100 years ago to advance relations between the two 
countries. As background to telling of his trip, Col. Brooke related 
the achievements of his grandfather (see earlier paper in the Society's 
Proceedings, Volume 4, page 3 2) . As a direct descendant of an 
American who had contributed so much towards Japanese-Ameri­
can understanding during the period being commemorated, Col. 



Brooke was singled out for personal attention. He was interviewed 
by newspapers and on the radio. 

Col. Brooke described Japan in the year 1960 as once again 
a nation to be reckoned with. In a miracle as great as that of Western 
Germany, Japan has risen from the rubble of war." 

H e concluded his talk by saying Japan must trade to live and 
at the moment the U. S. is its best customer. "As Lieutenant Brooke 
suggested one hundred years ago, Japan and the United States in 
both trade and national defense have a common destiny. Friendship 
and understanding can go far towards achieving that goal." Col. 
Brooke has done extensive research on his grandfather, who from 
1865 to 1899 was professor at VMI. His complete paper can be 
found in the Society's library. D 

0 n April 19, 1961, the Society held ceremonies 
commemorating the outbreak of the Civil War. Col. George M. 
Brooke, Jr., presided. The Commemorative Address was given by 
W. Houston Barclay, the title being: "Rockbridge County Goes to 
War.,, The ceremony, which included the dedication and unveiling of 
a memorial marker, was held on the lawn of the County Courthouse. 
Mr. Barclay, who died January 2, 1966, was a charter member of 
the Society. D 

ONE HUNDRED YEARS have passed since our country went 
through the period of its greatest trial. Before we start on the 
account of the Civil War itself and the effect on Lexington and 
Rockbridge County, we must go back a few years before 1861 so 
that we may understand why our people felt and acted as they did. 

This part of my talk I have called "The Union Must Be Pre, 
served," for this is the phrase most often heard repeated in the 
accounts of this period. As early as 1850, Judge John White 
Brokenbrough of Lexington in an address pleaded with his people 
to "stay the tide of fanaticism which is sweeping our land." Also in 
1855, William Cabell Rives had spoken "to drive the spirit of fanati, 
cism and sectional hostility from our land, which is leading to a 
struggle between blood brothers." Wise leaders here agreed that, 
because Virginia was a border state, it would most likely be the 
battlefield, and therefore they were much concerned. 

About this time, Maj. T. J. Jackson of Lexington accompanied 
a detachment of VMI cadets to Harper's Ferry and was present at 
the hanging of John Brown. 

The Virginia Assembly at Richmond sent out an invitation to 
all the Southern states for a "Peace Convention" to be held m 
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Washington, D. C., February 4, 1861, at the Willard Hotel. Of the 
34 states invited, 21 responded by sending a total 13 3 delegates. These 
men were most earnest in trying to hold the Union together and by 
doing this to prevent a war. This same day six Southern states that had 
already seceeded from the Union met in Montgomery, Alabama, and 
formed the .. Southern Confederacy.,, As we look back on this Peace 
Convention in Washington, it is very easy to criticize. In one way 
they missed the mark completely. The resolutions they formed after 

ROCKBRIDGE HISTORICAL SOCIETY 

Ceremonies Commemorating the Outbreak of Civil War in 1861 

Courthouse Square, Lexington, Virginia 

April 19, 1961 

CoLONEL GEORGE MERCER BROOKE, JR., President of the Society , 
Presiding 

THE INVOCATION ........................ ..... ..... The Rt. Rev. Lloyd R. Craighill 

"Rockbridge County Goes to War" 
Commemorative Address by Mr. W. Houston Barclay 

CIVIL WAR SONGS .. ....... .................... . Lexington High School Glee Club 
Mr. William 'Tolen, Director 

DEDICATION AND UNVEILING OF MEMORIAL MARKER IN TRIBUTE TO 
MEN OF ROCKBRIDGE COUNTY 

Dr. George West Diehl and Miss Betsy Letcher 

THE INSCRIPTION 

IN GRATEFUL MEMORY OF THE BRAVE MEN FROM 

ROCKBRIDGE COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

WHO SERVED SO GALLANTLY IN WAR, 1861-65 

THIS MEMORIAL IS DEDICATED IN TRIBUTE TO THEIR 

SACRIFICES 

ONE HUNDRED YEARS LATER 

Presented by the Rockbridge County Historical Society 1961 

MARCHES ..................... ..... ... .... ..... The Virginia Military Institute Band 
Captain Joseph Pearce, Director 

THE BENEDICTION .................... ... .......... .... ........ .......... .. . Bishop Craighill 

HONOR GUARD BY VIRGINIA MILITARY INSTITUTE 

AND 

w ASHINGTON AND LEE UNIVERSITY ROTC 

23 days of debate were: first, "to try to hold slavery south of the 
30° north latitude," and second, to enforce the fugitive slave law. 
Both of these resolutions were voted down by the Congress of the 
United States. 

Meanwhile, the Secession Convention of Virginia in Richmond 
kept trying to get an agreement among its members, and a great 
uncle of mine, Samuel McDowell Moore of Rockbridge, was burned 
in effigy for a :firery speech he made in favor of the Union. 

Many families were divided on the subject of preserving the Union. 



Dr. George Junkin, President of Washington College, was a strong 
Union man. His family was badly divided. One daughter and a 
nephew sided with the Doctor, while another daughter, who had 
married Col. John T. L. Preston, and her two brothers sympathized 
with the South. In fact, these two brothers were later in the Southern 
army. Another daughter, who had died in 1854, was the :first wife 
of Maj. T . J. Jackso·n. 

Fort Sumter was :fired upon on April 12, 1861. Three days later, 
President Lincoln called for troops from Virginia to help bring the 
seceded Southern states back into the Union. His call united Vir, 
ginians. The preservation of the state became foremost in their 
minds, and on April 17 Virginia, too, seceded from the Union. 

Young men in the county had been drilling and forming com, 
p•mies for some time before this. The Rockbridge Dragoons had been 
organized since November, 1859. A vote was taken in the county 
to determine the advisability of Virginia's seceding; the result was 
1, 728 for secession and only one against. 

Gov. John Letcher of Lexington called for volunteers for the 
Southern army. The day after Virginia seceded, the Rockbridge 
Rifles with 103 men marched to Staunton. The same day the Rock, 
bridge First and Second Dragoons with 60 men each left for the 
same destination. On Sunday, April 21, the VMI cadets under Maj. 
T. ]. Jackson left Lexington for Richmond, where they took over 
the training of officers for the Confederate Army. All of these cadets 
became officers themselves in the years that followed. Before leaving, 
the various local companies gathered in the Courthouse Square for 
a blessing and prayer by the ministers of Lexington. Washington 
College professors and students were drilling on the campus under 
instructions by the VMI cadets before the men left for service. 

After Mr. Lincoln's call and before Virginia seceded, a Con­
federate flag was raised on Washington College. Dr. Junkin, its 
president, ordered it taken down, and a wise student said that as 
Virginia had not seceded they had no right to put up the flag. It was 
agreed to take it down. A few days later the fl ag was raised again, 
and Dr. Junkin, his daughter and a nephew left Lexington for Phil­
adelphia. 

The next company of which we have a record was the Rockbridge 
Artillery which was formed April 21, 1861, with 70 men. General 
William N . Pendleton of Lexington, the Episcopal minister and 
a graduate of West Point Military Academy, was elected its com­
mander. In his book,* Col. Poague states that many men from the 
University of Virginia came to join these Rockbridge companies 
because of their outstanding leadership. This was also helped by the 
fact that Sandie Pendleton, a son of the general who later became 
a member of General Jackson's staff, was a student of the University 
of Virginia. Also, there were many Southern states represented 
among the students and cadets in Lexington. 

* GUNNER WITH 
STONEWALL, by 
W. T. Poague, 
1957. 
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The cavalry and artillery companies were outstanding for the 
care given their horses probably because a large number of men in 
these outfits were Rockbridge County farmers. 

The Liberty Hall Volunteers, named for a company from this 
area that fought in the Revolution under the president of Liberty 
Hall Academy, Dr. William Graham, was organized at Washington 
College on June 8, 1861, and my father (A. Telford Barclay, Jr., then 
a student, age 17) was among their number. They left Lexington after 
a period of prayer and worship lead by Dr. William S. White, 
minister of the Presbyterian Church. They were mustered in at 
Staunton the next day. 

During the next several months, fifteen companies left Rock­
bridge County for the army. Two of this number formed at Browns­
burg, a company of rifles and one of cavalry. In Rockbridge during 
the whole war, 2,343 men enlisted. This was 86% of the manpower 
of the county according to census, and 3 7Yz % of these men were 
killed or died in service. 

All this time the people thought it would be a short war. Col. 
Poague states that his law partner, Col. J. W. Massie, wanted to go at 
once for fear the war would be over before he could enlist. President 
Lincoln's first call for men was for three months' service. 

The county women were not idle during these first days. The 
ladies of Brownsburg made 80 coats, 80 trousers, 80 knapsacks, 80 
canteen covers, and ten tents in one week for one of their companies. 

The years dragged on, and during the time between 1861 and 
1863, Lexington and Rockbridge County did not suffer nearly as 
much as they did later in the war. Rockbridge citizens were chiefly 
concerned with caring for the sick who came home, burying the 
dead, supplying the army with food and clothing and providing for 
their horses. Business in the towns was almost at a standstill as 
supplies had to come through the blockade, and money was scarce. 
The population of this area was composed mainly of women, old 
men, children, slaves and some free Negroes. 

The ladies formed aid societies and worked in the town churches 
making supplies which were shipped to the hospitals. One of these 
hospitals was at Alum Springs in the old Virginia Building and several 
unmarked graves tell the story of boys who died here of measles. 
There was also a hospital at the White Sulphur, one at Staunton, 
another at the Fairgrounds* in Lexington, and later in the war one 
was established at Washington College. The Fairgrounds hospital 
had 150 beds, and most of the time was filled with cases of small pox. 
The ladies aid societies sent everything that could be spared, beds, 
carpets, food, tableware, money, blankets, and quilts. Sometimes 
they gave the services of their servants. Even the window curtains 
were used as bandages. 

Lexington was divided into seven parts and each part was re­
sponsible for a hospital a week. For example, the wagons for Staunton 



left every Thursday loaded with all that was made for that week in 
that section of town. After a time when all of the men were gone, 
the Masonic halls were used as work shops. 

The members of the Ladies Aid Society of Natural Bridge cared 
for the sick and offered their houses for men on furlough. The same 
was done in other parts of the county, but not on as large a scale. 
Col. Poague tells that when he returned to his house near Falling 
Spring after being badly wounded, he realized that his family did 
not have enough food to divide with him. His mother and sister were 
going without in order to feed him; so he left and went back to the 
army in order to relieve the strain on his people at home. He also 
stated that when he returned to the army he took with him 60 new 
recruits from the county. 

Jackson's body reached Lexington by packet boat from Richmond 
and was buried on May 15, 1863. Exactly one year later the Battle 
of New Market was fought by the VMI Corps. The valiant effort 
slowed the Union army's drive up the Valley.* The next month, news 
was received here that the Federal army of Gen. David Hunter was 
in Staunton and on its way to Lexington. 

The town began to gird itself for the shock. Supplies were hidden 
along with the family silver and other treasures. All animals that 
could be moved were driven to the mountains ; soldiers on furlough 
or wounded were moved to places of safety. On June 11 the first 
scouts arrived in town. Mrs. Preston tells in her diary of seeing a 
squad of calvary in Confederate uniforms passing her front gate. 
She called to them to hurry because the Yankees were coming. One 
of them cursed her and said they were N orthern spies. Then came 
the infantry after the town had been shelled by cannon from across 
the river. Around forty houses were hit in addition to the VMI and 
Washington College, although Gen. Hunter in his report said he did 
not shell the town. The Confederates had burned the bridge over 
Maury (North) River to slow down the progress of the Federal 
troops. 

The houses used by the northern generals as headquarters while 
in Lexington were the Jacob Fuller house, the Francis H. Smith 
house, and the Prof. James S. White house. At nine a.m. , the VMI 
was set on fire and burned. This was done because it was State prop­
erty and also because the VMI had trained soldiers for the Southern 
army. Gov. John Letcher 's home was also burned. 

In many cases, Hunter 's men looted houses on the pretence of 
hunting for Confederate soldiers. T his, of course, frightened the 
occupants. M rs. Preston's diary gives a full description of what went 
on . She said she wrote it down so that she could send it to her fa ther 
so he would know how they behaved. She and her daughter hid the 
family table silver and her brother-in-law Gen. Jackson's sword under 
their hoop skir ts all the time the Federal t roops were around. I also 
remember a family story of how an ex-slave slept on the door step 

*" Up the Valley'' 
is actually south as 
the Shenandoah River 
flows north to 
Harper's Ferry. 
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of my grandmother Barclay's* house with an ax to protect the three 
lone ladies in the house. 

The library at Washington College was looted. The soldier 
acting as guard at my grandfather Moore's** house gave the cook a 
Greek dictionary for making him a pot of soup. The college buildings 
were saved from destruction by a board member who went to Gen. 
Hunter and told him that Gen. George Washington had given the 
money to build the college. 

On Thursday, June 14, the Federal troops left as quickly as they 
had come and carried away the Washington monument from in front 
of the VMI. When they left, a number of the young colored people 
went with them. 

Prices in Lexington after Hunter's raid are recorded as $30.00 
for a gallon of sorghum, $6.00 for a pound of candles and $25'0.00 
for a barrel of flour. This was for the people who had money, but 
most trading was done by exchange for some other product. Col. 
Preston sent his family for Christmas, 1863, from Richmond a pair 
of rubber shoes for his wife, for which he paid $30.00, some old 
illustrated magazines picked up in the barracks for the smaller boys, 
a piece of dress goods given him by a friend for the older daughter, 
a bridle picked up off a battlefield for the older boy, and, as a special 
gift, some writing paper from a captured northern supply train and 
last, but not least, one orange. 

News of the surrender at Appomattox came while the people 
were in church. The whole town went virtually into mourning. 

Gen. Grant allowed the officers at Appomattox to keep their 
horses. An uncle of mine, Ned Moore, a private, told his neighbor 
from Lexington, Gen. Pendleton, about having recently acquired a 
horse; whereupon, the General appointed my uncle to his staff so 
that he was able to keep his horse. When he returned to Lexington, 
he sold the horse for enough money to enter Washington College 
the next fall. 

Gen. Lee was allowed to retire to "Derwent" in Powhatan County 
on the James River, where for a few months, with his family once 
again around him, he was able to rest before he accepted the call 
of the board of Washington College to become its president. 

In the years immediately following the surrender, carpetbaggers 
were very discreet in Lexington because of the presence of many 
ex-soldiers in the two colleges. Also Gen. Lee was liYing here-all 
of which was quite fortunate for Lexington at this particular time. 

The people of Lexington and Rockbridge County were closely 
united by the suffering they had gone through together. The boys 
and girls were together again, and youth has a way of forgetting 
quickly. Small groups of young people began meeting in what they 
called "starvation parties," with little to eat but lots to talk about, 
and, the old custom of serenading the ladies was begun again. Life in 
Lexington and Rockbridge County slowly became more normal. • 



0 n July 24, 1961, the summer meeting of the 
Society was held at the Effinger School House. Col. George M. 
Brooke presided. Mr. Clinton L. Anderson spoke on "War Comes 
to the Davidson Family," taken from a paper written while a senior 
at W & L the previous year. 

Mr. Anderson, who is a resident of the County, drew heavily 
from the materials in the Society's possession for his honors thesis 
entitled: The James D . Davidson Family of Roc~bridge County, 
Virginia. The collection of Davidson papers contains over 600 letters 
of that family and their friends. Among the many correspondents 
were John Letcher, James B. Dorman, and William M. Paxton. A 
copy of the complete paper can be found in the Society's Library. D 

JAMES DORMAN DAVIDSON was born November 7, 1808, 
the eldest son of a prominent Rockbridge County Presbyterian 
minister, Andrew Baker Davidson. James became an outstanding 
chancery lawyer who "exceeded all of his brethern at the bar in 
volumes of written pages on file in the court." He was educated at 
Washington College in 1827-28 and lived, until the war, on East 
Washington Street. His wife was Hannah Greenlee Davidson, a 
very patient and kind woman and the mother of eight children. 

The first son died in infancy. The other five boys, who grew 
to adulthood, were Greenlee, Frederick (Seddie), Charles (Charlie) , 
Albert (Allie), and William Weaver (Willie) . The two girls were 
Mary and Clara, the youngest member of the family. 

Mr. Davidson was very much interested in education. All of his 
sons attended college. Three of them left college- two from Univer­
sity of V irginia and one from Washington College- to enter the 
war in 1861. The Davidson family was typical of the majority of 
Rockbridge in being Unionists in sentiment. 

The Davidsons had been long-standing Whigs and when the 
Whig Party disintegrated, they joined the opposition to the Demo­
crats. In 1860, Davidson and most of the W higs supported John 
Bell, the Constitutional Union candidate, as did the rest of V irginia. 
The election of Lincoln over Bell and Breckinridge came as a shock 
to the Valley region, but most people felt the South would stay in 
the Union. 

Albert wrote to his father from college that "everyone" at the 
University of V irginia expected " to be called to defend his country 
or protect his fireside." He mentioned that the South C arolina boys 
had already gone home. T wo military companies had been or­
ganized but probably would have to dissolve because of the lack 
of arms. 
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Albert, his father, and his sister attended the Virginia State 
Convention, which had been called to take up the question of seces­
~on. From Charlottesville, Albert reported that he was having a 
difficult time maintaining his conservative viewpoint because a vast 
rnajority of his schoolmates were avid secessionists. On March 11, he 
wrote that the students were calling Lexington "an abolition hole." 
Then, on April 20, H. R. McKennie wrote to ]. D. Davidson: 

The young men of all ages seem to be wild with the most intense 
excitemrnt. At dinner on Wednesday, your son Charles had deter­
mined to go, and Albert said he would wait and write home to you 
to get him a place with Col. Smith, but, at 6 o'cloc~, which was our 
supper, to my surprise Albert came in all ready for the march. Tell 
Mrs. Davidson her sons were both well, and went off with high 
spirits. I feel the greatest faith that the great God of Heaven will 
be with us in this terrible struggle. 

Mr. McKennie concluded with a note that "all parties are now 
united." This college group was soon to become part of the Army 
of Northern Virginia. 

Five days before this letter was written, on April 15, 1861, the 
spirit of Unionism died in Rockbridge. It was on this day that 
President Lincoln called on Virginia to produce 75 ,000 volunteers 
for the purpose of forcing the seceded states back into the Union. 
Davidson made a comment to James B. Dorman that the "Union 
pole raised on yesterday, with the eagle upon it, has been cut down 
by those who raised it. Everything is quiet, and at long last it seems 
we all think alike." 

The Davidson family became immediately involved in the Southern 
cause. Charles and Albert had already gone with the student com­
panies from the University of Virginia to Harper's Ferry. News 
came to Lexington that they had arrived safely along with approxi­
mately three hundred other students. They were being drilled every 
day by their professors. Fred Davidson left his studies at Washington 
College and marched with the first contingent of the Rockbridge 
Rifles as a second corporal. 

In May, 1861, Greenlee accepted Gov. Letcher's invitation to 
become the Governor's personal aide with the rank of lieutenant 
colonel of cavalry. Meanwhile, both Albert and Charles, with the 
student companies, had moved to the mountainous counties of 
Western Virginia and in the Kanawha Valley. 

Tragedy first struck the Davidson family at the battle of First 
Manassas. Fred Davidson, a member of the 27th Virginia Infantry 
Company H, was killed. By his own request, he was buried on the 
battlefield. His father was granted permission by the Army to get 
inside the lines at Manassas to see that his son was properly buried. 
On August 3, 1861, as Fred Davidson's family was mourning his 
death, his grandfather, the Rev. Andrew B. Davidson, died at the 
age of eighty one. He had been the senior member of Lexington 



Presbytery and a minister for about 5 5 years. He was well known 
for his evangelistic work, having founded congregations at Colliers­
town, Kerr's Creek, and Rockbridge Baths. 

The Confederates fared badly in West Virginia during the winter 
of 1861-62; the Yankees began pushing along both the east coast and 
the western section of the seceded states. Def eat at Fort Henry and 
Roanoke Island brought deep concern to the Confederate leaders in 
Richmond. On February 10, Greenlee wrote from Richmond that he 
had "determined to take the field and give benefit of my weak arm 
to the cause of Southern Independence,,, Greenlee 's father quickly 
replied that he had not been surprised by his son's decision to enter 
directly into active service but that both he and his mother regretted 
having "to part" with him. His final words in this letter were: "Go 
with the Blessing of your Parents and may Heaven prosper and 
defend you, is the prayer of your Parents.,, 

Greenlee was officially commissioned captain of artillery by Gov. 
John Letcher on February 14, 1862. Tremendous responsibilities 
were immediately placed upon the young captain of what was to be 
called "the Letcher Battery." He had to obtain guns, company 
officers had to be picked, and recruits had to be found. Financing 
the cost of organizing the Company was also his own private re­
sponsibility. Three days before, on February 11, Greenlee had begun 
recruiting men by opening an office in Richmond. He sent his father 
a number of his recruiting advertisements so that he could circulate 
them in Rockbridge. In reply his father gave him a few words of 
advice: 

In recruiting your men, some wild characters may apply. 'Though 
apparently objectionable, they afterward ma~e the best soldiers. 
'Treat them ~indly and respectfully without exception. Be ~ind but 
decided and your men will obey you. You must expect to ta~e many 
rough fellows. Don't let the idea get out that your company is to 
be formed of prudish young men. It won't do. In a word, use ~ind 
words always and never wound men's feelings of any applicant for 
your company. 

Greenlee's company later took part in 13 major battles, and 
numerous skirmishes. His first major engagement was at the Battle 
of Malvern Hill. The commanding general, ]. B. Magruder, ordered 
the battery to be placed in an "impossible position.,, Greenlee writes: 

We only saved the battery from utter destruction by loading 
the guns low down on the slopes and running them up near enough 
to the crest of the rise to fire them, and the recoil would run bac~ 
into a sheltered position. 

This method of rapid firing continued for an hour and twenty 
minutes, during which time two infantry charges were made. After 
the second charge, the two sides became engaged in hand to hand 
combat. But at the end of the battle the battery had held fast. First 
Lt. Charles Ellis Munford, the son of the Secretary of the Com-
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monwealth of Virginia, and two other men were killed. Nineteen 
company men were wounded. 

The Letcher Battery was honored for its outstanding bravery 
and excellence. Newspapers, such as the South Carolina Southern 
Guardian and the Richmond Enquirer, carried strong editorials 
praising the battery. A special commendation for conspicuous gal, 
lantry was given Capt. Davidson in a report by Gen. A. P. Hill. 

By this time, Albert Davidson had joined his brother's company. 
Their youngest brother, William, was a part of the company for 
a few weeks until he became ill. He and Albert went to Dublin, 
Virginia, where they were stationed under a cousin, James B. Dorman, 
in a training camp. 

Charles Davidson, who was a lieutenant in the First Irish Battalion, 
also became a part of A. P. Hill's division and was stationed with 
his brother during much of the summer campaign in 1862. 

The Davidson brothers were also together during the Battle of 
Cedar Mountain August 9, 1862. Charles was nearly wounded when 
a Minie ball hit only two inches in front of him. 

The second engagement which Greenlee describes in detail was 
near Warrenton Springs: 

I had the safest position on the ground . We were nearest the 
enemy, but we stationed on the top of a high hill, the slope of which 
behind us afforded almost a perfect protection to the men and horses. 
We would load our guns on the side of the hill, run them up near 
the top, just far enough to sight them and after firing a round or 
two we would lie down on the hillside and enjoy the music of the 
shells which burst over us a:nd around us by the hundreds. Sometimes 
we would fire at the enemy whilst their batteries were silent and 
then it was li~e wa~ing up a hornets nest. The enemy would con­
centrate all their guns upon us and the shells would burst around us 
so ·rapidly and furiously that it was impossible to carry on a con­
versation-the report of the shells and the whistling of the fragments 
was so deafening. 

Yankee bullets glazed the top of the hill and whizzed down the 
other side. Only two men in Greenlee 's company were wounded and 
none were killed. Greenlee 's canteen which was hanging at his left 
side was shattered by a bullet: 

How the canteen was struc~ without my arm being injured is 
incomprehensible to me. I suppose my arm must have been raised 
when [it] was struc~ . I will send it home to Ma. She will prize it 
as it saved my life perhaps. Had it not been for the canteen I would 
have been struc~ in the left side. 

Greenlee 's account of the Battle of Second Manassas is lost. 
However, a description of the Antietam-Harper's Ferry campaign 
is very complete. He describes one of the cities that his troops passed 
through. Greenlee noticed to his dismay: 

After passing through the City we turned into the National road 



and moved in the direction of Hagerstown. About 10 o'clocl{ passed 
through Middletown-a village nearly as large as Lexington. It has 
the reputation of being the bitterest abolition hole in the state. 'The 
people are as valid (sic) as those of any village in Mass. or Vermont. 
We found the place almost deserted. 'The houses were locl{ed up and 
all the merchants had closed their stores and fied. It lool{ed indeed 
lil{e a deserted village. After leaving Middletown we passed through 
a most beautiful country. 'The lands are in the highest state of cultiva­
tion and every farmer has a barn almost as large as Noah's Ari{. 
But strange to say, I visited nearly a hundred farm houses du.ring the 
day, and did not succeed in buying a pound of meat or a bushel of 
corn. It is true that a considerable number of the houses were de­
serted, but where I found the owners at home, they all told me they 
had nothing to sell. It is perfectly evident that the people of this 
section of the State are as hostile to us as if we were north of Mason 
and Dixon line. 

By nightfall of September 14, the Letcher Artillery was located 
in a woods near Harper's Ferry. Jackson had extended his lines 
forming a semicircle with his left on the Potomac and his right on 
the Shenandoah leaving the enemy only a "little tongue of land" 
between the rivers. Although the battery set up opposite three of 
the enemy's heaviest guns, only one man was killed during the action. 

Toward the last of November, Davidson's company marched to 
Fredericksburg. Greenlee wrote: 

Fredericl{sburg is deserted and is threatened by our guns as well 
as by those of the Yank__ees. 'The country for miles around is fiHed 
with refugees . Every house is crowded a:nd hundreds are living in 
Churches, in Barns and in Cf ents. I passed one camp, in which there 
must have been forty or fifty families. It made me feel sad to see 
delicate women, beautiful girls and tender young children thus 
banished from their comfortable homes, living as it were in the 
woods, at this trying season of the year. How thanl{ful the people 
of Rocl{bridge should be, that the County has never been visited 
by the desolating tread of an army. Although the people of 
Fredericl{sburg have been driven from their homes and are in daily 
expectation of seeing their houses reduced to ashes, still they utter 
no word of complaint. 

During this battle, Greenlee was in immediate command over 21 
guns. He wrote that he looked around to see what damage had been 
inflicted on his own neighboring companies. One of Capt. Brown's 
men, who had been giving out ammunition "was severed in twain and 
burned to a crisp. His clothing was stripped from his body and 
blown into the top of a tall pine." Greenlee saw Lt. Grayson fall 
mortally wounded. An ammunition chest was ignited by a Yankee 
shot and ten pound shells were thrown in all directions inside the 
battery position. A few minutes after Grayson was hit, Lt. Thomas 
Brander was glazed by a ricocheting bullet. The shock was so great 
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that Brander was dazed at first, then "took off in a full run" leaving 
Davidson as the only commissioned officer at the battery. 

On May 2, 1863, the Letcher Battery was ordered to Wilderness 
Church, a part of the Chancellorsville battlefield. The next morning 
after they had fired three hundred and nineteen pounds of ammu­
nition, the battery was ordered to the rear behind a hill, while an 
infantry charge was made. Greenlee and several other men were near 
the top of the hill watching the charge when Davidson was hit by 
infantry fire. Greenlee 's men carried him from the field and made 
him as comfortable as possible. As he was being moved he turned 
to his first lieutenant, Brander, who was now in command of the 
battery, and asked him "to thank the men for their gallant behavior, 
for it made him die happy." John Morris, Jr., an ordinance officer 
of the battalion, was beside Davidson during the last moments of his 
life. Morris wrote Greenlee 's mother: 

... he dreaded his approaching end principally on your account 
and exclaimed Oh! My mother! What a terrible blow this will be 
to her: he requested me to write to you to say that he fell bravely 
fighting for our cause and in the hour of history. In conclusion let me 
assure you that whilst we would not intrude our feelings on the 
sacredness of a mother's grief, you have the heart felt sympathy of 
aH who ~new him here and we deeply mourn the loss of one from 
among us who possessed so many qualities of heart and mind to 
render him a most valued friend in any position. 

Albert and William came home from Dublin for the funeral. 
Charles was unable to leave his new position at Gordonsville. H e 
did, though, write to the family : 

And now that he is gone, let him be as an example to your 
remaining sons, as to what they ought to be, as a shining mar~ 
for them to imitate; to others, let his name be ref erred to with 
pleasure, and with the proud feeling of a father who ~nows that 
few parents had such a son to lose. 

The southern position was declining in the summer of 1863 . 
Charles had spent the previous winter at Gordonsville where he 
was a provost officer. Albert and William had been at Dublin. 
William entered the war as a commissioned officer and, as a member 
of Early's army, took part in the famous raid on W ashington that 
same year. He served as special aide to Col. Patton. 

M eanwhile at Lexington, Mr. Davidson had been acting as com­
missary officer for the home guard and at different times was highly 
commended for his work. 

In June, 1864, Gen. Hunter, sweeping up the Valley, raided Lex­
ington leaving the VMI buildings and Gov. Letcher's home in ruins. 

On the first of October the Dublin camp and the department 
of Southwest Virginia were closed. Albert received an appointment 
as enrolling officer of Giles County, and was stationed at Pearisburg 
in November. 



There are no Davidson letters to describe the miserable, chaotic 
conditions of the winter of 1864-1865 . Lines of communications were 
destroyed. Grant's armies were overpowering Gen. Lee and the 
Army of Northern Virginia. On February 26, 1865, Charles wrote 
from Petersburg that the people had been ordered to remove all 
tobacco from the city or have it confiscated. 

News of Lee's surrender reached Lexington on April 10. But 
the end of the war in eastern Virginia did not mark the end of 
tragedy for the family. Albert was still fighting in the mountains of 
Giles County when Lee surrendered at Appomattox Court House 
on April 9. Before the news reached that area, Albert was mortally 
wounded. He lingered for several weeks, and died May 6. His 
daughter, Alberta, had been born on April 24, less than, two weeks 
before his death. 

William and Charles Davidson returned home from Appomattox 
to live with their elderly parents. William enrolled at VMI and 
Charles was admitted to the Lexington bar. William was soon forced 
to withdraw from VMI before completing his studies because of ill 
health. His health grew steadily worse, and he died shortly afterwards 
of typhoid fever at the age of twenty-four. 

Charles, now the only remaining son, became very active in civic 
affairs in Lexington, working constantly for the progress and 
prosperity of the community. But a disease, supposedly tuberculosis, 
soon caused a serious decline in his health. On the advice of friends 
he went to the sanitorium at Clifton Springs, New York. Around 
February 20, 1879, he became worse and the superintendent se·nt a 
telegram requesting that his sister, Clara, come to Clifton Springs 
immediately. Before she had left the county she learned of his death. 
He was buried February 2 7, in the Lexington Presbyterian Cemetery. 

James D. Davidson had outlived all his six so~. Yet his civic inter­
est did not fail. He continued to express in prose and verse much of the 
spirit of the times. In 1880, Davidson prepared a short poem, in 
which he expressed a warm feeling of hospitality and friendship 
toward Northern people who, in turn, had demonstrated their will­
ingness to help the South. No sign of bitterness can be found in the 
poem, even though its writer had lost practically everything in the 
war, including five of his sons. The new attitude of Rockbridge 
citizens can be seen in these two stanzas of the poem addressed to 
northern "capitalists:,, 

Come, then amongst us, with your thrift, 
And with your go-a-head, 

And wa~e our Sleeping Beauty up, 
And raise her from the dead. 

The past is gone-for gotten be, 
Before us is a future grand, 

When solid South and solid North, 
Are one united land. • 
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T October 30, 1961, meeting of the Society 
was held at the Castle with Col. George M. Brooke presiding. Dr. 
James G. Leyburn, Professor of Sociology at W & L, spoke on Dr. 
Alfred Leybum, a Lexington Whig, legislator and man of affairs. 
In 1963, Dr. Leybum published an important study and history of 
the Scotch-Irish people. He has also written a thorough history of 
the Leyburn family (1734 to 1960}. Much of the material for his 
paper on Dr. Alfred Leyburn was drawn from this family history. D 

IN 1803, IN WHAT is now called the Withrow House, diag­
onally across from the Rockbridge County Court House, was born 
Alfred Leyburn, the subject of this memoir. He was the fifth of the 
nine children of Capt. John and Mrs. Jane McDowell Leyburn, and 
the oldest of the sons to grow to maturity. 

Since the seventy-five years of his life saw Lexington grow from 
a small village of nine blocks to a considerable town, and since he was 
intimately connected with many of the important institutions and 
people of Lexington, this paper will, in the general interest, be not 
a strict biography, but rather a comment on "how things used to be,, 
in the nineteenth century. 

At the time of Alfred's birth, both Lexington and Rockbridge 
County were only twenty-six years old. Since the western limits of 
the town were marked by Back Street (or Jefferson, as it is now 
called), they did not then include what was to become Washington 
and Lee. Indeed, the building that housed Washington Academy 
had been destroyed by fire a few months before Alfred's birth, and 
the work of the school was then being conducted in rented buildings 
within the village. The southern limit of the town was the present 
Nelson Street. Presbyterians of Lexington had, in 1802, built their 
church, the only one attended by Lexingtonians, a quarter of a mile 
to the south in an oak grove; the building was surrounded by its 
graveyard, the present cemetery. 

Alfred's father, Capt. John Leyburn, a merchant, had bought 
his house and lot in 1800 from the estate of William Alexander for 
the sum of $2000. The lot extended from Main Street all the way 
to Back Street, and near the rear corner was one of the ample springs 
from which Lexingtonians derived their water. The house itself had 
been built by Mr. Alexander in 1780. Main Street in those days 
was considerably higher than it is at present, so that what is now 
the second story of the house was then the ground floor, and the 
part now used as a store was then the basement of the house. 

Capt. Leyburn used the corner room of the main floor for his 
store, since it fronted on both Main and Washington Streets. Behind 



the store was a counting room, with glass panels in its door so that 
the Captain or his clerk might look through it into the store. Across 
the hall was the parlor, in which the Leybums had the first piano 
ever to appear in town. The instrument had been purchased by the 
Captain for his daughter on one of his semi-annual trips to Philadel· 
phia to buy goods for his store, and it had been hauled to Lexington 
by wagon. 

Across the street from the Leyburns, where now is the Adair· 
Hutton store, lived the Caruthers family, one of whose members later 
played a large part in Alfred's life. Children of the two large families 
played together, and there was agreement among the parents that a 
child of either family might be disciplined in the other household. 

When, in 1810, a double covered bridge was constructed across 
the North River, it then became feasible for Capt. Leyburn to 
purchase a country estate along the north ba·nk of the river. The 
farm ran from the present Humphris store in East Lexington all the 
way to the Lime-kiln Bridge, and included at various times from 450 
to 1000 acres. (I shall mention later the construction of the house 
now owned by Mrs. Beatrice Price and the mill now operated by 
Mr. Furr.) The Leyburn family continued to live in town, the 
farm being run by an overseer with the help of Negro workers. 

When Alfred was seventeen, he entered Washington College. 
Here, like his two younger brothers after him, he remained for two 
sessions and then went on to Princeton to graduate. Having decided to 
become a physician, he attended the Jefferson Medical College in 
Philadelphia, and upon receiving his degree, returned to practice 
medicine in Lexington. 

It was upon his return in 182 5 that he began to show his interest 
in his neighbor and former playmate, Ann Eliza Caruthers, three years 
his junior. Ann's father had died in 1817, leaving nine children. 
Thereupon, Mrs. Caruthers gratefully accepted the invitation of her 
distinguished brother, Dr. Archibald Alexander, to have the eleven· 
year-old Ann come to live in Princeton with the Alexanders. This 
was a brilliant opportunity for the child. Dr. Alexander, having 
already served as president of Hampden-Sydney, had been called 
to Princeton to become the first professor in the new Princeton 
Theological Seminary. While Ann was living with her uncle's family, 
she developed into a considerable beauty, with dark red hair, brown 
eyes, and a fair complextion. It was the unanimous testimony of those 
who knew her that she had "a very lively character." Her first 
cousin, one of the young Alexander boys, fell in love with her. 
This alarmed Mrs. Alexander, who said she "would have none of 
first cousins marrying each other." She forthwith dispatched Ann 
Eliza back to her family in Lexington. H ere in 1826, at the age of 
nineteen, she married the twenty-three-year-old Dr. Alfred Leyburn. 

Leaving the family home on Main Street, Dr. Leyburn bought 
for himself and his bride the handsome new house just built by 
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Samuel Darst (or possibly John Jordan) that is now the Episcopal 
rectory. In this house three sons were born to the couple, William, 
Edward, and John, and here the family lived for the next decade. 

Dr. Leyburn soon began to take an active part in community 
affairs. At 3 2, he was made an elder in the Presbyterian Church, and 
at the same age he was elected as a Whig to represent Rockbridge 
County in the State Legislature. 

In 1835, the year of his election, two political parties dominated 
the national scene-the Jacksonian Democrats and the Whigs. The 
backbone of the support of Andrew Jackson came from the ordinary 
people who, during the years of government by Virginia and 
Massachusetts aristocrats, had had small voice in national affairs. 

The substantial citizens of Rockbridge were, of course, Whigs; 
it was these men of property who in 183 5 elected Dr. Leyburn to 
the legislature. My father, who knew him well, said of the doctor: 
"'He was an aristocrat and a Whig, who despised democracy, and 
thought the ignorant rabble utterly incapable of managing the affairs 
of state. He felt that the franchise should be based on education 
and property." In one of his own letters, Dr. Leyburn referred con­
temptuously to the Democrat, Martin Van Buren, who was shortly 
thereafter to be elected President. 

In late November, 1835, Leyburn left his wife, Ann Eliza, and his 
three sons, then aged eight, six, and eighteen months, and, taking his 
younger sister with him, set out upon the three-day journey by 
stage-coach to Richmond for the meeting of the legislature. In his 
:first letter after reaching Richmond, he wrote his wife : "Nothing 
short of the committal of the remains of my dear wife and children 
to the grave, could have given me more pain, I believe, than Monday 
morning's separation, and scarcely ever could any one have struggled 
harder to suppress his feelings than did I." 

Ann, in her letters to the new assemblyman, always included 
news of the three little boys, their health, their bright remarks, the 
:first efforts of the baby to talk. In her second letter she says that 
Edward and William had asked that their love be "'put in that 
letter," and reminds him always to mention them when he writes, 
"for they beg me to read the letters to them, and look disappointed 
when nothing is said about them." Alfred is thereafter faithful about 
including messages for each of the children, and sends news of candy 
and oranges he has bought for them, and finally of the purchase of 
"a little bit of a puppy, as white as snow and wooly as a sheep." 

Ann tells of family prayers morning and night, conducted by 
her younger brother Edward; of the sermons by the young minister, 
Mr. Cunningham; of his efforts to convert Alfred's good friend Dr. 
Jordan (:finally successful) . She wryly notes that Mrs. Cunningham 
is about to have another baby, though her language is oblique: "She 
looks very much as if she was sold to the Dutch, poor woman. I pity 
her, she has begun already, and preachers' fortunes consist in their 



children." She comm1ss1ons Alfred to purchase in Richmond some 
new Venetian blinds for the dining room- and fails to give him 
any measurements. Business problems and farm affairs appear in 
almost every letter; for example, she writes: "The pork came in on 
Saturday too late for me to do anything with it as I expected. The 
hogs weighed 3 618 pounds." 

She is jealous of the Legislature that keeps Alfred from "his 
widowed Ann Eliza," and begins a quiet but ultimately effective 
campaign to keep him from standing for re-election. At first Alfred 
is quite disturbed by her manoeuvres, but finally accedes graciously 
to her wishes for retirement after one term. She twits him on his 
silence in the legislative debates, saying, "I do not hear of your 
figuring in the Legislature much!" Eventually he writes her that he 
has made his maiden speech, which-"this is for your own ear 
only"-his friends tell him is a good one. Repeatedly she makes 
plans to come to Richmond to spend a month with him, but some­
thing always interferes-bad weather, illness of the children, un­
availability of a suitable companion for the three-day trip by stage­
coach, or her own bad cold. 

Alfred in turn keeps Ann posted about his sister Alice's beaux, 
about visits from his younger brother George (who, as a student in 
the theological seminary nearby at Hampden-Sydney, seems to Ann 
lamentably uninterested in getting married), his own health (Ann 
recommends celery for his dyspepsia-this to a doctor!). He tries man­
fully to keep her posted about what ladies in Richmond are wearing. 
He buys some silk for her and tells her he intends to have it made up 
into a dress for her "by the measure of a little black-eyed girl who sits 
at our table, who is not quite so tall, but whose bust is a very facsimile 
of Ann Eliza's." (She hastily sends him her own measurements.) 
Once he describes "a shew of the burning of Moscow & the French 
soldiers, horse & footmen & all, many hundreds entering the city 
with Drums & Trumpets & Muskets & Cannon. Oh how I did wish 
for you all. The most splendid exhibition of the kind I ever saw." 
He gives Ann instructions about business details at home, counsel 
about the servants, advice about taking along a heated brick for her 
feet and an extra coat for her knees if she should make the stage­
coach trip to Richmond. 

Health figures frequently in letters from both of them, and 
there is an ominous note in one of Ann Eliza's letters about a deep 
cold she has. She writes in February, 1836: "I think I never knew 
what a cold was before, compared with the one I have now. My 
friends have been, as usual, uneasy about my lungs as I can see from 
their countenances, and I have not been without apprehension 
myself, as I never have a cold on the chest that I do not think my 
lungs are in danger. It is necessary for me to be kept down by 
sickness, and danger, to be kept in the line of duty, so prone am 
I to go after the things of this world." 
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Alfred finally got home at the end of the session in March. 
His last letters show increasing impatience at the delay in ending 
debate: "You don't know how bad I want to see you all, and if 
these Shoats here had not fooled away so much time on the abolition 
& expunging resolutions, we would all have been at home probably, 
snug enough.,, 

The reader of the correspondence imagines the job of the home, 
coming and reunion, and almost finds himself hoping that the young 
family will all "live happily ever after." The sequel, however, is 
painful. Ann Eliza's health grew steadily worse; we have a letter 
from her brother,in,law, Dr. H. W. Moseley, of Lynchburg, con, 
cerning medicine to be given her; the letter concludes: "I would 
hope the disease of the lung would yield under the present course." 

It did not yield. Ann Eliza died on November 3, 1836, when she 
was only thirty. 

With the death of his wife, Dr. Leyburn returned to the 
Legislature, and now devoted considerable attention to a bill of much 
interest to the Lexington community. Even during his first term he 
had made references to the "Arsenal Bill." This was the beginning 
of what was to become the Virginia Military Institute. 

In 1816 Virginia had established at various points throughout 
the state Arsenals, in which State Guards were maintained. Early 
in the 1830's Claudius Crozet, a native of France, who had taught 
mathematics at West Point before coming to Virginia to undertake 
various large engineering enterprises, seems to have made the sug, 
gestion that the State should replace its Arsenals by a military school 
on the order of West Point. Alfred Leyburn and particularly his 
closest friend and brother,in,law, J. T. L. Preston, a lawyer, thought 
this idea an excellent one. (Col. Preston was married to a younger 
sister of Ann Eliza's.) The bill was introduced into the Legislature, 
and Leybum worked steadily for it. At its passage, the Institute 
was established in 1839. Gen. Francis H. Smith was named as its 
first Superintendent; Crozet was made :first president of the Board 
of Visitors, Dr. Leyburn was made a member of the Board, and 
Col. Preston was appointed as professor of Rhetoric and Literature. 

In the next year, 1840, Dr. Leyburn was chosen a member of 
the Board of Trustees of Washington College, at the age of 37. It 
was at this point that he gave up his practice of medicine, simply 
because of his involvement with other affairs. As legislator, spending 
three or four months each year in Richmond ; as owner of a flourishing 
plantation; as member of the Board at V.M.I.; as member, secretary, 
and finally rector of the Board of Trustees at Washington College; 
and as elder of the Presbyterian church-he simply had no time for 
his medical practice. Indeed, the pressure of affairs made him also 
give up his membership of the Board at V .M.I. 

As secretary of the Board of Trustees at Washington College, he 
was one of those who wrote and signed the letter inviting General 



Robert E. Lee to become president of the institution in 1865. Thirty 
years before, Dr. Leyburn had built a handsome home for himself 
and Ann Eliza on his plantation; her death prevented her living in 
it. But thereafter the town house was sold to the Episcopalians for 
their rectory, and the Leyburns moved to Elmwood. When Gen. 
Lee became president of the College, he frequently rode Old Traveller 
out to Dr. Leyburn 's place to consult with him about affairs of the 
institution. My father, who was born in 1865, vividly remembered 
the general, and I shall tell one story in his own words: 

On one of his visits, probably in the spring of 1870, Gen. Lee 
hitched Old 'T rave Iler near the stile under a large cucumber tree 
which shaded the lower part of our lawn. While he was in the 
house visiting the older members of the family, we small children 
gathered dandelions in the yard and climbing up on the fence, 
decorated Old 'Traveller's mane and foreloc~ and bridle with the 
flowers. When we saw General Lee coming out of the house and 
down the wal~ with our parents, we hid behind the shrubbery, 
since we did not feel sure that the General would approve our wor~ 
of decoration . When we saw that he and our parents seemed greatly 
amused at what we had done, we came out of hiding and General 
Lee, who was very fond of children, too~ the smaller ones of us up 
into his arms and held us up to pet Old 'Traveller. 

In the year following the death of Gen. Lee, Washington College 
became Washington and Lee University, and in 1872 Dr. Leyburn 
was named Rector of the Board of Trustees, a position made all the 
more important because of the retiring nature of General Custis 
Lee, successor of his father in the presidency of the institution. 

During all these years of concern with the college, important 
issues were being decided by the Session of the Presbyterian Church, 
of which Dr. Leyburn was a member. In 1840, for example, it was 
agreed that a new church (the present one) should be erected 
nearer the center of town; the elders very thriftily saw to it that 
the materials of the old church were used in the construction of a 
new manse for the minister on White Street. In the same decade 
of the 1840's the Session was unhappily involved in the famous 
Skinner affair. 

Dr. Skinner, a Scot in the prime of life, was an excellent preacher 
and was at first greatly admired by his congregation; but he was 
something of a martinet, and he believed in running the church in 
his own way. He had a system of visiting the co·ngregation which 
he called Parochial Statistical Visitation. He would announce from 
the pulpit on Sunday that he would be in a certain house at a 
specified hour on Monday, that he would see all the family who 
wished to be seen, and that he would then refresh the minds of the 
children in the Shorter Catechism and hunt up all the ages in the 
family Bible. Before leaving he made a complete record of all he 
did and learned during the visit. After seven years of being treated 
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as stat1st1cs, many of the congregation were ready for Dr. Skinner 
to move. Several members addressed to him a private letter, suggesting 
that his usefulness in Lexington had ceased. Receipt of this letter 
aroused the fighting Scot in Dr. Skinner. After a variety of scenes 
embarrassing to the congregation, the Presbytery dissolved the re­
lationship between pastor and church; but Dr. Skinner appealed this 
decision to the Synod, and when that body upheld the Presbytery, 
to the General Assembly of the Church. At the same time, he 
published a pamphlet assailing most of the people of the congrega­
tion. To this pamphlet the Session replied, through the columns of 
the local newspaper. The war of words continued, and it was only 
after a futile appeal of Dr. Skinner's to a grand jury to indict the 
members of the Session that the minister shook the dust of Lexington 
off his feet. 

After the death of Ann Eliza Caruthers, Dr. Leyburn married two 
years later Miss Anne Pope Price, of Richmond, by whom he had 
four children. The second Mrs. Leyburn was an excellent mother 
to the three sons by the first marriage. She herself died in 18 5 5, 
after fifteen years of married life. Five years later, in 1860, the 
doctor married for the third time, a distant cousin of his second 
wife, Miss Susan Wrenn, beloved by all who knew her. The third 
Mrs. Leyburn was a staunch Episcopalian; she used the conservatory 
at Elmwood as her place of daily prayer. In the back of her prayer­
book she pinned a list of names of people for whom special prayer 
should be offered, and her step-children were among them. During 
Lent Mrs. Leyburn often fasted so strenuously that her health was 
threatened, and Dr. Leyburn had to take a firm stand on this matter. 

The Civil War brought its difficulties and tragedies to Dr. 
Leybum and his family, as it did to most other members of the 
community. The time of Hunter's Raid was particularly tense. The 
mill, which Dr. Leyburn and his son Edward had built in 1850, was 
several times set on fire by Union soldiers; but since the fires were 
easily extinguished each time, the consensus was that the soldiers 
were acting on orders, and had no heart for destroying an institution 
so necessary to the people of the county. Nevertheless, since the mill 
supplied Confederate troops, the order to destroy it was under­
standable. In the family archives are several notes from Stonewall 
Jackson and later from Gen. Lee giving their personal orders for 
fl.our from the mill. 

The bombardment of VMI took place partly from the Leyburn 
estate. All families were ordered out of their homes, and the Leybums 
took shelter in the woods. As they were wandering there, a con­
tingent of soldiers, seeing them, trained its guns upon them and 
were about to open fire. Fortunately, neighbors standing nearby 
recognized them and saved them from destruction. Elmwood, the 
house, was despoiled, and all the cattle were driven off; the gardens, 
of course, were ravaged ; the family silver and jewelry were fortunately 



saved, having been buried by faithful slaves. 
Dr. Leyburn 's third son, John, became a surgeon in the Con­

federate Navy. He was one of those on the Alabama under Admiral 
Semmes when that ship was struck and sunk, but he was saved. 

Until the end of the War, Dr. Leyburn ran his plantation with 
slaves. It was his custom, when trouble arose among them, to hold 
court on the back porch of Elmwood. The cook, Ginnie, who 
possessed a violent temper, was most often the trouble-maker. Many 
stories are told of the difficulties which the Doctor had to adjudicate; 
they all indicate his even-handedness and fairness, but one story 
also shows his ingenuity. On a certain morning Ginnie and Smithy, 
a house maid, had a violent argument that led to hair-pulling and 
face-scratching. They were called before the Doctor, and as they 
mounted the four steps to the porch each of them held her head 
high and showed a face furious with anger. Dr. Leyburn asked no 
questions, but had two large palm-leaf fans brought and given to 
each irritated woman; then he ordered them to fan each other. The 
quarrel ended as a grin began to appear on each face, then a titter, 
and :finally complete laughter on both sides. 

With the freeing of the slaves, there was the problem of making an 
adjustment to the new order of things. Irish tenants now appeared. 
Soon also, as very often happened, most of the slaves, after a brief 
experience of freedom and responsibility, returned to the farm, to 
work during their active life and then to be taken care of in their 
old age. When the doctor reached the age of seventy, in 1873, he 
turned over the management of the farm to his twenty-year-old son 
by his second wife, Howard Leyburn. 

Dr. Leyburn shared with his family a deeply religious nature. 
Both of his younger brothers were ministers: one of them, George, 
was a missionary to Greece, and the other, an editor of a church 
paper in Philadelphia, and then pastor of the largest church in 
Baltimore for many years. In 1878 Dr. Alfred went, as representative 
of the Lexington church, to the meeting of the Synod of Virginia 
in Abingdon. While staying at the home of the Prestons there, he 
became ill of pneumonia, grew rapidly worse, and died on October 
30. Howard went to Abingdon to help nurse his father, and then to 
bring his body back to Lexington for burial. 

My father, who knew his grandfather, Dr. Alfred Leyburn, in 
his latter years, says of him: "He was a very dignified man, rather 
reserved, always carefully dressed. I do not remember ever having 
seen him go out without wearing his long Prince Albert frock coat 
and high stove-pipe hat, even when he was only going to ride over 
the farm on horseback to see what was going on and to give 
directions to the hands. Yet with all of his dignity and apparent 
reserve, he was very friendly and cordial, with a fine sense of humor. 
He was quite a mimic, and could tell a good story as well as anyone 
I have ever heard. When I was a small boy he of ten took me with 
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him as he rode about the farm, I riding behind him on old Sam, 
his favorite riding horse." 

Physician, legislator, active trustee of two educational institutions, 
elder in his church for forty-five years, gentleman-farmer, and father 
of seven children, Dr. Alfred Ley burn led a versatile life. • 

T e Society held its winter dinner meeting on 
January 22, 1962, at the Trinity Methodist Church. Gen. Letcher 
presided. The speaker for the evening was Theodore R . Turner, chair­
man of the Fine Arts Department of the University of Virginia, who 
presented an illustrated talk on Virginia architecture. Dr. Turner, 
who is the brother of Dr. Charles W. Turner, began his talk with 
the State Capitol in Richmond, built in 1792 from designs by Thomas 
Jefferson. Among other buildings in Richmond which were discussed 
were the Main Street and the Broad Street railroad terminals. He 
mentioned the Rotunda and the lawn at the University of Virginia 
in Charlottesville, Bremo and Berry Hill. He then discussed in detail 
the contrasting forms of architecture found at \Vashington and Lee 
and VMI and their influence on other buildings in Lexington. D 

0 n April 30, 1962, the Society met at the 
Castle, and Gen. Letcher presided. The speaker of the evening was 
Col. John G. Barrett, professor of history at VMI, who read a 
paper on the letters of a cadet who was killed in the Battle of New 
Market. Col. Barrett has published a number of Civil War books 
and articles. 'The London 'Times called his Civ il War in North 
Carolina (University of N orth Carolina Press, 1963) "one of the 
better books published in the United States since 1959." Earlier this 
year he contributed a chapter in Writing Southern History entitled 
" Confederate States at War on Land and Sea," and in 1956, UNC 
Press did Sherman's March 'Through the Carolinas. A number of the 
letters in the paper which follows were carried in his Letters of a Ne w 
Mar~ et Cadet (UN C Press, 1961) . D 

A MEMBER OF a large and well established family, Beverly 
Stanard was born on April 27, 1845. By the early 1860's his 
father, Robert Stanard, was dead, but his mother, the former Ellen 
B. Taliaferro, continued to live at the family home, Berry Hill, near 



Orange. Also living at or near Berry Hill at this time were three 
of Beverly's sisters: Mary, the wife of W. H. Chapman; Frances 
Pendleton ("Fanny"), the wife of T. ]. Shaw; and Champe, who 
later married William Rawlins. In addition, Beverly had two older 
brothers, F. Haywood, who was married to the former Sallie 
Chandler and who lived in Mobile, and Robert, who was married 
to the former Mary Battle ("Mollie") and who by April, 1864, was 
in the army attached to Headquarters, Artillery Corps, Valley 
District. There is no information concerning Beverly's childhood, 
but on November 11, 1861, Haywood, writing from Augusta, 
Georgia, opened negotiations with Colonel (later Major General) 
Francis H. Smith, Superintendent of VMI, to have Beverly admitted 
as a cadet. Allusions in Haywood's letter indicate that he was 
acquainted with General Smith, and he wrote, "I have a high 
opinion of the Institute & wish to give my Brother a good education.,, 
Beverly's mother, however, was less enthusiastic about her youngest 
son's leaving home. On December 5, 1861, she wrote to General 
Smith, "I have declined sending him for the present, the times are 
too unsettled,,, but a year later she apparently became reconciled 
to the idea. On December 1 5, 1862, she wrote again to General Smith: 

I learn through my son in Mobile that you have promised to 
ta~e my son into yr institute. I should have sent him immediately 
but found great difficulty in getting him comfortable cloathing ~ct. 
I wi!l endeavor to send him the 1st Jan . ... It is a great trial to 
me giving up my youngest boy ~ the only one near me, and I must 
beg you to show him as much Fatherly care as you can? It will be 
his first absence from me! And I sha!! be truly thank.Jul ~ well 
satisfied if he returns the same good ~ obedient child when his 
education is complete. 

On January, 20, 1863, Beverly arrived at VMI and was admitted 
as a cadet. His letters to his mother and sisters begin a month later. 
Lexington was away from the scenes of the great military operations 
of 1863 and 1864, and the cadets themselves, then as now, were 
somewhat isolated from the world outside and even from the 
activities of the town itself by the restrictions of barracks life. But 
Beverly's letters do give some indication of what life at VMI was 
like in these years; they reveal and comment on the hardships and 
rigors of the cadets' day-to-day existe·nce, the few amusements open 
to them, the rumors and the fruitless marches into the mountains 
to repel Federal attacks which never got to them, and above all the 
longing of all the boys to take some active part in the war which 
was going on around them but which seemed certain to pass them 
by. Against this background Beverly himself appears as an interesting 
and sympathetic character. Like most cadets, he had his prejudices, his 
resentment of authority, and his complaints about his treatment at 
the Institute, but with them all a good humor and a sense of propor­
tion which usually kept him from petulance. This is really to say 

Extracts from 
Letters of a 
New Marke,t 
Cadet by CoL 
John G. Barrett 

31 



Extracts from 
Letters of a 
New Market 

Cadet by Cof. 
John G. Barrett 

32 

that he was in many respects a typical cadet, and his attitudes are 
as common to cadets of today as they apparently were to those of 
a hundred years ago. 

The strong affection which ma·ny alumni feel for VMI is a 
rather curious phenomenon which usually first manifests itself openly 
on graduation day. Cadets have always professed a hearty aversion 
to the chop-logic of the regulations and the punctilios of the discipline 
to which they subject themselves, while, paradoxically, they generally 
resist any move to change the system substantially. Their complaints 
are often indirect boasts of their ability to endure the very things 
that they complain about. Beverly was in this respect little different 
from the general run, but his frequently expressed dislike of VMI 
received some additional stimulus from his genuine feeling that it was 
shameful for a young man of his age not to be in the army. His 
academic failure, which goes unmentioned in his letters, may also 
have affected his attitude. 

Beverly's letters written in the winter and early spring of 1864 
constantly stress one theme, his desire to leave VMI and to join Lee's 
army while there was still a war to be fought. The latter part of 
April Beverly was granted a leave but he was back at his studies 
by May 10. On this date about nine - o'clock in the evening a 
messenger from Major General John C. Breckinridge (Commander 
of Confederate forces in the Valley) arrived at General Smith's 
quarters bearing the following dispatch: 

Siegel is moving up the Valley-was at Strasburg last night. 
I cannot tell yet whether this is his destination. I would be glad to 
have your assistance at once with the cadets and the section of 
artillery. Bring all the forage and rations you can ... 

The next morning the Corps of Cadets started north on the 
Staunton pike. Three days later, May 15, they were to play a 
prominent part in the Battle of New Market. In this engagement 
two officers and forty-five cadets were wounded, and ten cadets 
were either killed on the field or so badly hurt that they later died. 
One of those mortally wounded was Jacquelin Beverly Stanard. 

Tonight I plan to read only portions of various letters written by 
Beverly Stanard, and I have selected excerpts that I hope will be of 
particular interest to residents of Lexington and Rockbridge County. 

My dear Sister, 

Virginia Military Institute 
February the 20th 1863 

And just to thin~ I have only been here one month today, and 
have five more long weary ones to spend here. It is awful to thin~ 
about. . . . You would laugh to see me going through the double 
quic~ step. I loo~ li~e a frog in the act of jumping . ... While I 
am writing they are drawing a cannon out on the parade ground 
to test it. I am going out there to see it fired. . . . T omorrow is the 



22nd and Gen. S[mith] told Capt Bull1 if he could get the tur1\_eys, 
he might give us a big dinner, but as he cannot get them, we will 
have the same old fare, Beef ~ Bread. I am in hopes there will be a 
suspension of Studdies until 'Tuesday. (Private) Sister asl\.ed if I 
ever saw the little Madisons. 2 Am sorry to say I have not. And 
moreover I dont expect to, from what I can hear. Dont say anything 
about this? I heard from good authority that the children were not 
allowed to wear socl\.s, until that one (the youngest) had its feet 
fross,bitten. I feel sorry for the the little darlings. Mrs. M[adison] 
is master. And every one easily percieves it. Let no one see this but 
the family? ... 'There is no episcopal preacher here, but they expect 
to call Henry A. Wise, Jr. 3 hope they may. Have very good music 
at the presbyterian church. . . . Sunday the 22nd. Ground covered 
with snow nearly a foot deep and still falling fast. What awful 
weather we have had in the last month for our army. 'They must 
suffer. I never saw such a country as this in my Zif e. And every boy 
agrees with me. It is either raining or snowing all the time . ... 

Camp Jack_son Aug. 28th 1863 
My darling Mother 

I left Staunton about 4Yz Wednesday morning, a:nd after a very 
pleasant trip (Having met with 3 or 4 Cadets returning) reached 
my old prison house at 1 P.M. and to my surprise found that the 
Corps had left the evening before to reinforce Jack_son. 4 I then began 
to regret and censure myself very much for stopping over in Staunton, 
but it all proved to have been the best thing for me, which you will 
presently see. Us furlough Cadets immediately began to prepare to 
set out on our march to overtak_e them, Determined they should not 
be in a fight with out us, but about the time we were ready, one of 
the officers came in and said the Yank_ees had fallen back_ and that 
the Corps was then on the way back_ to the Institute, after having 
marched to Goshen. We then thought after that information that 
it would be a piece of folly in us to start to meet them coming back_. 5 

I felt quite lonesome, there being only a few Rats6 left as a guard. 
I staid down with Capt. B[ull] and made myself at home. He seemed 
very glad at having me back_. And yesterday evening they all returned, 
brok_en down sorefooted, and quite mad that they were not permitted 
to go on and engage the enemy. Jack_son was very anxious, especially 
for the company of artilery to come on and join him, but old 
Spex; had not the authority to tak_e the Corps out of the County, 
but had, to fight them in Rock_ bridge in defence of the Institute. I 
am now delighted that I did not get there in time, since it has proved 
such a useless ~ fatiguing march. 

My dear Sister 

Virginia Military Institute 
November the 15th 1863 

Willie 'T. old sweetheart Lu Brok_enbrough will be married in the 

Spelling has not 
been corrected In 
Stanard's letters. 
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morning to Ca.pt Semmes, a professor here. 8 He would have been 
married last Tuesday but for being out on the march. Dant you 
rec~on he blessed the Yan'!\ees . ... 9 

My dea.r Sister 

Virginia Military Institute 

December the 1st 1863 

I ought to be there in the army now fighting for my home. 
Changing the subject, I attended the tableaux given last frida. y 
night by the la.dies for the benefit of the poor soldiers, although 
I was dead bro~e at the time, thought a.s I ha.d never been to anything 
of the sort here, a.nd then it was my duty, borrowed the money 
to go. Some of the scenes were very pretty, but the smallness of the 
room a.nd the immence crowd destroyed all the pkasu.re of being 
present. Ca.pt. B[u.ll] the only person you. ~now, acted the pa.rt of 
the "Irish volu.nteer"-It would be useless in me to attempt to 
describe the scenes dress &ct. Will send you. a. programme, a.nd 
you. ca.n farm a.n idea. for you.rs elf of what they ought to have been, 
a.t least how they loo~ed. I dont thin~ it could have been as grand 
as those given by the ladies of Old Orange as the ma.teria.l was 
wanting. The y realized I understant $600. Lu.la. P[ endleton] 10 did 
not a.ct. I dont thin'!\ she can be very popu.la.r. By the by, I forgot 
to tell Cha.mpe, that she told a friend of mine tha.t she was one of 
the wildest girls she ever saw, and wa.s wearing Gen. I[ mbodcm ]'s11 

ring. Tell C[ha.mpe] she had better beware her reputation will 
be quite broad . ... 

V.M.I. Dec. 19th 1863 
My darling Mother 

I guess you. have been wondering what in the world had become 
of me that I did not write. Well we were ordered out on last T u.esday 
very unexpectedly to march directly to Goshen and then wait orders 
from Gen. Imboden. I ha.ve not time to give you. an account of our 
march now, as we have to leave here in the morning at 5 to go in 
the direction of Bu.cha.nan or Salem after "Averil," 12 and having 
marched 13 miles today <over[?]> a miserable frozen roa.d, feel as 
if I could <use [?] > a little sleep on my old mattras after ta~ing it 
out so long. Oh! I tell you. I can stand a.rmy service. We were 
exposed one da.y and night to the most disagreeable weather I ever 
saw. Rain fell in perfect torrents, freezing as it would fall. We 
intended to ha.ve gone on from here after a rest of 2 hours but a.s 
there were a good many boys shoeless and others with sore feet, 
we concluded to lay over. We ta~e 3 da)'S rations ( which is very 
little) . .. I a.m perfectly well & hardy, ready to give that s<camp[?]> 
"Avril" a laming. I hope to gracious we may catch the scoundrel and 

his men. 



My dear Mother 

Virginia Military Institute 
December the 23rd 1863 

I wrote you a few days ago, on my return from our Goshen 
tramp, and I promised I would write again as soon as I reached 
here once more. Well dear Mother we reached our journeys end 
Monday evening and nar' e Yank_ee did we k..ill or see after marching 
us all over this plagued mountainous country, and ruining our feet, 
we being badly shod at the time.13 But thank.. gracious, there were 
none seriously hurt by the trip, and now since they have had a little 
rest would be willing to start out on another, provided they were 
carried in some other direction than that of Goshen ~ Covington, for 
both of these routs every boy seems disgusted with. And it is enough 
to dispirit any one for you look.. upon nothing but high rock..s of 
mountains the whole way. Once in every ten miles by accident we 
would pass an old delapidated look..ing building. I believe I mentioned 
in my other letter what a wet time we had of it while at Camp 
Starvation near Goshen. Although we were so near drowned, yet 
there was no grumbling, quite to the contrary the bo)'S were hollowing 
~ singing the whole time. I wish you. could have heard us when a 
train14 came up to Goshen whistling G> the bell ringing. I believe 
every boy joined in a thundering shout which reecho through out 
the surrounding mountains. It reminded us all so much of home ~ 
especially those who had been here so long without having had 
furloughs that I do believe if the Yank..ees had been near and we 
been ordered to k..eep quiet we could not have resisted the temptation 
to give vent to our joy at such a pleasant sound. When we left here 
we thought we were going to Staunton. I took.. some collars along in 
case we should, and when I heard this train I could not but help 
think_ing it was coming to tak..e us there and I had made u.p my mind 
if we got that near home, I would worl{ my <coins[?]> so as to go 
the whole hog. But alas! there was no such good luck.. for poor me. 
I was doomed to disappointment. The train only came to bring a 
bearer of dispatches. We laid in our mud puddles until evening when 
the tap of the drum bade us prepare for marching. There were all 
sorts of rumors afioat before we left camp . Some said the Yank..ees 
were near Lex[ ington J and we had to march there that night a 
distance of 22 miles. Others said we were going to Covin[ gton J but 
we were all surprised when Col. Ship1 5 marched us up to Cool Su.lpher 
Springsrn to quarter us in the cabins there for the night. Before we 
reached there we had to wade through mud ~ water a foot deep 
for near ten miles. We managed to build us up a a little fire and 
dry our blanl{ets. There was a still house at this pLace and every boy 
got enough to drink.. to mak..e him sleep and to k..eep him from tal{ing 
cold. In fact the majority of the boys were quite merry. I took.. a 
Uttl e swig though not enough to mak..e me feel the effects of it. 
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Stanard Bu.ffi.ngton17 had his canteen fu.H and was loo~ing all about 
for me. Expect if he had found me I should have been tipsy also for 
I did not thin~ it any harm that night. Buffington is a splendid boy. 
On the next morning we set ou.t for Lex[ ington]. It had then ceased 
raining and we had a beautiful day before u.s for marching but the 
roads were so bad and the streams we had to pass over so swollen 
that we did not go more than 12 miles to Wilson Store before we 
stopped over again for the night, and slept in some old dar~ey cabins. 
Although it was very cold I had a very good nights rest. While [we] 
were here Col. Ship receiv[ ed] a dispatch from Old Spex (who 
said in his order before we left that he would shun our hard ships) 
who was then at Lex[ ington] en joying the pleasures of home com­
forts ordering us hurry bac~ as qu.ic~ as possible, we had to go in 
the direction of Buchanan. So we left next morning early ~ reach[ ed] 
here at 11 Yz although the roads were so bad we marched 4!/z miles 
in one hour 

My dear Mother 

Virginia Military Institute 
J anu.ary the 3rd 1864 

... The dinner you. spo~e of was really a "beautiful" one, but I am 
confident when I give you. a bill of fare of the one which I had the 
pleasure of masticating, you. wiII not for one moment hesitate in 
saying mine, was still more beautiful. First, We had cold loaf bread, 
(not enough by 16 loaves) also warm cornbread. Second, Cold beef. 
For desert, molasses, water, ~ct, G-'ct. Oh! Indeed if I were to go on 
and enumerate the rest, I would not finish this letter soon-So leave 
it for you to form an idea . ... Christmas wee~ was the dullest to me, 
I ever spent, only one day suspension. Few boys tight, owing to the 
scarcity C9' high price of Liquor. I slept most all the time to rid 
myself of the monotony. Occasionally I would wal~ up in Lex[ington] 
and get some thing to eat. I had loo~ed fo rward before Xmas with 
mu.ch pleasure to the arrivel of two boxes belonging to my roommates 
which were to have come by the pac~et boat but it has not as yet 
made its appearance. And judging from the loo~s of the river which 
I can plainly see from my window, and which is entirely frozen 
over, that it will not do for some time to come. We have almost 
despaired . . . So Gen. I[ mboden} is still fiying around old 
C[hampe]. Wonder if she can't prevail on him to give me a place 
on his staff ... I attended Church this morning [the Methodist] had 
to go there with my Company but deserted C9' went to the Episcopal. 
Saw Sandy P[ endleton] ~ bride,18 but did not spea~ to him. Lu.la 
had a beau so loo~ed pleased . ... 

My dear Mother 

Virginia Military Institute 
January the 17th 186[ 4] 

I have anxiously been loo~ing for a letter from you. for some time, 



in reply to my la.st, which I mailed about the 5th or 6th. I hope it 
has not been lost, for it was a long one, and I wanted you to see how 
I spent my Christmas. Mother it has been so long since I wrote that 
I guess you have been uneasy about me again, thin~ing I might be 
sic~-Q.uite to the contrary, for the last wee~ I have been having 
a good time s~ating. 'The river was frozen over beautifully for miles, 
as we were not doing any studying, the Examination being ju.st over, 
we were all allowed to go. I wish you could have seen the river, it 
loo~ed li~e a fioc~ of blac~ birds was on it. I never saw boys seem 
to enjoy themselves more, cou.ld play bandy, fox G> goose and many 
other games, to afford us amusement. Sandy P[ endleton] G> Sisters19 

G> some other la.dies were down to see u.s. Sandy seemed to be a very 
aw~ward s~ater, and would get some pretty falls, sometimes, which 
added to my fun. I thin~ he is Stu.c~ u.p quite mu.ch. I hav'nt 
spo~en to him yet. I attended Church this morning, saw his wife 
then, do not thin~ she is pretty. 'The Gen. 20 has only preached for us 
once since he came here, bu.t gave us an excellent sermon then . ... 
Doubtless ere this you have received my re port and have been worried 
a.bout the way I have wasted my time G> gotten demerits G>ct-in 
the la.st six months, myself as well as many others have done but 
little studying. We have lossed about one and a half months going 
out on these plagued marches and still Old Specs hasn'nt made a 
single allowance in the examination, and I would not be surprised 
if there are not 150 cadets shipped soon for being unjustly found 
deficient, some over 18, and others for demerits. 15 were shipped 
yesterday for demerits. One of my roommates goes tomorrow. Spec 
a grand old scoundrel coins money by this as most of them have made 
their deposits, which is $600. I thin~ you. must not be surprised to 
see me at any time, as my number of dems, is pa.st one hundred, 
though most of them I got for overstaying furlough, and may yet be 
removed. I shall write to brother in a day or two for money to pay 
what I owe to old Spec. Mother to give you an idea what so;t of a 
man Gen. S[ mith] is-after our return from our last march, the 
government sent up 300 pairs of shoes for the Cadets as presents, 
or to pay for ou.r own that we wore out and now Gen. Smith will not 
let a cadet hav a pair if he has gotten shoes from the Institute within 
the last 6 months, and if a cadet is shipped before he can get them, 
'They fall in Specs hands who furnishes all his dar~eys with a good 
pair. I shall try hard to get mine, tho ' dont expect to wear them, 
they are course army shoes worth at the present prices 30 or 40 
dollars. I have a pair I bought before I went on the march that will 
do me, so shall ~eep mine (i f I get them) for Henry, unless he is 
well supplied. 

My dear Mother 

Virginia Military Institute 
Feb. the 21st 1864 

Since my last letter nothing mu.ch of interest has transpired to 
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disturb the monotony of the V.M.I. soldier boy's life-or daily 
routine of exercises, save the freezing up of the river, which has 
afforded us a little fun s~ating. Yesterday being Saturday, it did 
not interfere with our duties or studies, so a11 could go that wished. 
I went down to the river in the morning myself, 'though not with 
the intention of s~ating, as I had a sore bac~ and then I was minus 
a pair of sl\ates, mine being bro~en, but the ice was so beautiful that 
I could not resist the temptation, so borrowed a pair from one of 
the boys-and spent the rest of the morning on the ice. It was 
really elegant fun, could go down the river as far as you wished. 
'There were a great many ladies on the ice, who seemed evidently 
to thinl\ there was more fun in falling down than standing up, but 
unfortunately in the hight of their enjoyment, one of them (fris~ly) 
fell rather too hard and almost bro~e her nose. Poor girl, I guess it 
will spoil her beauty spot and I ~now will teach her a lesson how 
to run on ice again. 'The fall of this unfortunate lady, of course, 
intimidated and some what marred the pleasure of the remainder of 
the party. My friend Miss L[ella] P[endleton] was among the no. 
and was loo~ing as rosy as usual. 'Tomorrow being the anniversary 
of the birthday of the father of our Country, and in order to show 
ou.r due respect to his memory, there will be a suspension of academic 
duties, but owing to the scarcity of powder, will not be able, as is 
customary, to fire a salute. I went up in Lexin gton yesterday and 
lool\ed around for the combs you wrote for. Got you three which 
I hope may suit, the best I could find, and rather high, but you 1\now 
everything is now, 'though I could have gotten the two large ones fo r 
two dollars less if I had only ~nown it in time. 'The following is what 
I gave for the three: blac~, $3.75, one of the horn $5.00 the other 
$6.00, mal\ing in all $14.75. 

My darling Sister 

Virginia Military Institute 
March the 13th 1864 

... I honor you home foll\s so often with my letters that there must 
be a good deal of sameness in them which renders them uninteresting. 
But I hope you will overloo~ this, remembering that this is one of 
the dullest ~ meanest places in Christendom , that is in my 
estimation, and also of a great many of my fellow Cadets . But I 
shall not waist my time by heaping abuse upon Lexington and the 
V.M.I. You are well aware of my hatred for them both . ... Fan, 
how do you. suppose I spent yesterday evening? Wh y I saw a poor 
minl\2 1 court marshaled by the boys (only greening him) fo r deserting 
his post where they had stationed him the night before. After speal\ing 
on both sides the jury retired, an d soon reentered the hall. 'The 
sentence was read by the judge. 'The prisoner found guilty, and had to 
be shot in one hour. 'The whole court was so much affected at this 
sentence that the judge had to tell them they must not give way in 



that manner to their grief. 'The prisoner was then told that he would 
only have one hour to live, and as'l\_ed if he had any thing to say or 
if he did not want to write a letter home. He rose and endeavored to 
ma~e an appeal to the court under the plea of ignorance and a 
promise to do better in future, but the poor fellow was so frightened 
that his speech made but little impression upon the court. He was 
then told to retire into the antechamber where he could write his last 
letter, which he did and such a one you never saw. He told his Sister 
when he dilled her and told her good bye he never thought he would 
disgrace the family in that way. After finishing his letter he returned 
in the court room, and was so much distressed ~ frightened that his 
lawyer again made an earnest appeal in his behalf, and begged that 
they would grant him a reprieve for ten days, so that he might be 
better prepared to meet his fate. 'This was granted by the 
jury, but subject to the approval of old Spex. 'The Sergt. of the guard 
was then ordered to post 2 Sharpshooters at each corner of barrac~s, 
so as to prevent the prisoner from tal~ing to any one, or attempting 
to ma'l\_e his escape. He too~ the proceedings of the court over to the 
Gen. who told him we were only greening him. When he returned 
and told us what old Spex said, every boy roared out laughing. Our 
fun was then ended, ~ the poor boy relieved from his miser)'. He 
actually thought he was going to be shot sure 'nough. 'These are the 
~ind of Cadets which are being admitted in the V.M.I. now. Do 
you blame us for having a little fun, sometimes? Old Spex says we 
can substitute greening in the place of buc~ing for the new Cadets . ... 

My dear Mother . 

Virginia Military Institute 
March the 22nd 1864 

. . . Well Mother I guess you will wonder why it is, that I am 
writing with a lead pencil. 'The reason is just this, we are upon the 
eve of freezing up. It has been one wee~ since we had a particle of 
heat. ('There not being a stic~ of wood at the V .M. I .) You ~now 
what a change has ta~en place in the weathe1·-today it is snowing 
hard, and a cold wind blowing, and still we are having the same 
duties to attend to, both academic ~ military. It is outrageous, for 
the boys can't study a bit. I wish you could step in and ta~e a peep 
at us, it got so cold we could not stand it any longer, soe we (all 
the roommates) went out and made a raid on Old Spex laths, and 
have built up some sort of a fire and are all gathered around it li~e, 

a gang of chic~ens under its mothers wing. If the officer of the day 
should by chance visit our room and catch us we would get a hard 
report and a few demerits . ... Last Saturday Ex. Gov. Letcher22 

made a very fine speech, also Judge Bro~enbrough. 23 So we went 
up and heard them. Both were very encouraging, and thought the 
war would not last a year longer. . . . 
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My dear Sister 

Virginia M ilitary Institute 
April the 8th 1864 

Just thin~ I am a plagued conscript. If I cant get some place I am 
stout and hardy enough to rough it as a private. Do you. not candidly 
thin~ I ought to be in the Army? I am over 18. I thin~ I have been 
very obedient in remaining here as long as I have, and only done so 
because I hated to go contrary to the wish of a fond and devoted 
Mother. I thin~ Mother might very willingly give her consent now, 
that the prospect of the war ending soon is very great. . . . I believe 
I have fattened., weight 137 lbs. 'Tried on some of my summer 
clothes a few nights ago out of curiosity . You. ~now they were full 
large for me then. Now my jac~et won't meet around me, and my 
pants require a little sugar or molasses on my shoes to induce them 
to come down a little . ... I wrote before how we su.ff ered during 
the cold weather for the want of fire . It was the same this last spell, 
had to have suspension and let us lay in our beds to ~eep from 
freezing. Old Spex was well prepared to meet his own individual 
comfort. Plenty of the best coal that could be started in peace times. 
We were not at all indignant at his having suspension. I believe 
the majority of the boys preferred it and the cold weather to fire. 
Very natural feelings for school boys . ... I did intend giving you. 
and account of a review of the Corps by Gen. Rossur. 2 4 

V.M.I. April the 24th 1864 

My darling Mother 

'They are starving us out now. Dant give us half enough bread, 
miserable rye coffee without sugar or mil~ (and it has caused an 
eruption to breal\ out on a good many of the Cadets, I believe it is 
poison) and for the last two wee~s they have been giving us nothing 
but rotten beef. I declare it is perfectly awful. Old Sp ex has some 
50 or 60 barrels of it put away and will ~eep feeding us on it. An 
old scamp, he has about ten or eleven barrels of molasses, and won't 
give us any. All the cadets are grumbling and abusing him for it . . .. 
Well Mother every body (or Cadet at least) has been eight mu.ch 
excited today, been thin~ing of leaving for the Army to join the 
coming battle. You. need not be surprised if I am one, if they raise 
a company I shall join. Remember I will be 19 on the 27th of this 
month and ought to be ashamed of myself to be here. 

My darling Mother 

Virginia Military Institute 

May the 9th 1864 

Here I am, no longer a freeman, but a prisoner within the !of ty walls 
of the V.M.I. I reached here safely on friday evening. and it has 
been a source of regret to me ever since, that I should have been 



goose enough to leave [Beverly was returning from a furlough] 
when I did .... 'f omorrow there will be a suspension of academic 
duties in order to raise the flag sent from Europe, over the grave 
of our lamented leader Jac~son. 20 Well Mother it has been very 
warm all day, and this evening I had to attend drill for two hours. 
Wound u.p with 2 charges 100 yards across the parade on pretended 
breastwor~s. It was very exciting, in the first charge I was the first 
to mount the dreaded wor~s, in the second the 3rd man, but as I 
was so fat and excited, I had to leave ran~s at Dress Parade from 
a violent headache and a fainty feeling. But I have rested and feel 
all right and ready for another now. 

Staunton May the 12th 1864 
My darling Mother 

'J\[o doubt a letter written from this place will ta~e you greatly by 
surprise. Well to relieve your anxiety I will tell you. before going 
further and ~eep you from uneasiness. On 'f uesday night an order 
came from Gen. Brec~inridge ca1ling u.s immediately to Staunton. 
In obedience to his orders we fixed u.p and left on Wednesday 
morning at half past 8, marched 18 miles by half past two, when 
we camped. 'The roads were very good but were quite du.sty and 
then it was very warm. 'This morning we left camp under quite dif erent 
circumstances, it having rained du.ring the night and has continued 
to do so all day, the roads were awful perfect loblolly all the way 
and we had to wade through li~e hogs. We came 18 miles from 5 
to 12 however and are tonight encamped one mile out of town. 
I have run the bloc~ade and come in to ta~e tea with Cary 'f aylor, 
and that I might write this letter. Am I not good? I have a strong 
notion of staying in until 2 tonight with him so as to dry off, for 
I have been li~e a wet mouse all day-so disagreeable in camp. We 
will leave in the morning early and expect to have to march to 
Harrisonburg ( down the Valley) a distance of 26 miles. 'The 
Yan~ees are reported coming u.p the Valley with a force of 9000 

strong. Our Corps will run Gen. B [ rec~inridge] u.p to 5000 may be 
more. I hope we may be able to lie~ them ou.t. I have suffered more 
with my feet this march (so far) than I ever did on all the others 
together. I hope to get me a more comfortable pair of shoes when 
this will be remedied. I got my tru.n~ the evening before I left all 
safe. It was in the nic~ of time and my biscuit and ham for m y 
rations. If you want to write to me direct your letter to me at this 
place Care of Edmond M. 'f aylor, 26 Staunton, he will send them to 
me. I expect we will be down out this time for some wee~s. I told 
you. that you had better let me join Lee at once, that this could be 
the way, but you. must not ma~e yourself uneasy about me. I will 
ta~e care of myself. One of my messmates from this place is going 
to fill my haversac~ with something better than what we draw so 
I wont suffer for some days at any rate, though I hope not at all. 
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Well darling Mother I have written enough I suppose to relieve 
your mind as to our destination so I must stop and go in the parlor. 
Some young ladies there. You will have a hard time trying to ma~e 
this out I shan't underta~e it. Saw <Fedie[?]> 'f. this evening. Give 
my love to all acqu [aintan] ce ~friends. Hope Bob27 come out all 
right and all the Berry Hill friends ~ visitors. I shall write when 
ever I have an opportunity. And now dear Mother that I may be 
spared to see you all again, and that you may continue in good health 
will be the nightly prayer of 

Your darling boy 
Bev • 

1Capt. William R. Bull, steward at VMI 
2The Children of Dr. Robert L. Madison, Post Surgeon and Professor of 

Natural Philosophy and Animal and Vegetable Physiology, Applied to 
Agriculture. 

3Henry A. Wise, Jr., attended VMI for a short while (class of 18H) and 
then entered the Episcopal Theological Seminary of Virginia where he received 
his B.D . degree. 

'Col. William L. Jackson, a cousin of Stonewall Jackson and a former 
lieutenant governor of Virginia. 

0Beverly's absence from camp on August 25' caused him to miss the long 
and exhausting march made by the cadets to support Col. W. L. ("Mudwall") 
Jack son's defense of the Valley against the first incursion of Gen. William W. 
Averell and the Fourth Separate Cavalry Brigade of the Federal 8th Army 
Corps. 

0New cadets. 
'Cadet nickname, usually "Specs," for Gen. Smith. 
8Louise Brockenbrough was the daughter of Judge John W . Brockenbrough; 

Thomas M. Semmes was at this time an instructor in French at VMI and 
later Professor of Modern Languages and Rhetoric. 

0Beverly is referring to Averell's second raid into western Virginia. The 
Corps marched almost to Covington and back without firing a shot. Beverly 
said he stood the campaign "bully." 

10Probably Hughella ("Lella") Pendleton, daughter of Gen. William N. 
Pendleton. 

11Brig. Gen. J . D. Imboden. 
12In December, 1863 , Gen. Averell conducted his third and most successful 

raid into western Virginia. 
13Beverly is referring to Averell's third raid. 
14The Virginia Central Railroad 
15Lt. Col. Scott Ship was commandant at VMI. Later he changed the 

spelling of his name to Shipp. 
16Cool (Cold) Sulphur Springs was near Goshen. 
17Cadet Edward Stanard Buffington, class of 1867, was a private in C Com­

pany in the Battle of New Market. 
18 Col. Sandie Pendleton, Stonewall Jackson's chief of staff, was the son 

of Gen. W . N. Pendleton. (The father spelled his son's name "Sandy" but the 
remainder of the Pendletons spelled it " Sandie.") On December 29, 1863, 
Sandie married Kate Corbin of Moss Neck, near Fredericksburg. T he young 
couple spent thei r honeymoon in Lexington. 

19Sandie had five sisters, Susan, Mary Nelson, Rose Page, Nancy Nelson, 
and Hughella (Lella). 

20Gen. W. N. Pendleton was an ordained Episcopal minister. He was 



a graduate of West Point and served as Chief of Artillery in the Army of 
Northern Virginia. 

21As early as 1846, when it appeared in a manuscript newspaper called "The 
Royal Caroline," the term "mink" was in use by cadets to mean "Washington 
(and Lee) student." It is still current in that meaning and has never, as far 
as is known, been applied to new cadets. Beverly may, however, be using it as 
a synonym for "rat", the usual appellation of new cadets, or he may mean 
that the cadets had, as a joke, somehow_ induced a mink to stand guard at 
VMI. His later remark-"These are the kind of cadets which are being 
admitted in the VMI now"-does nothing to clarify the matter since he may 
be referring to those who were heartless enough to "green" the poor boy. 

22John Letcher, native of Lexington, was governor of Virginia, 1860-63. 
23John W. Brockenbrough, Federal Judge, ran a private law school in Lex­

ington; it was at Washington College after 1866 and became part of it in 1870. 
MBrig. Gen. Thomas L. Rosser, commander of the "Laurel Brigade," 

which at this time was encamped in Rockbridge County. 
25Stonewall Jackson. 
211Edmond M. Taylor and Cary Taylor, mentioned above, were probably 

related to Beverly by marriage. Two of his uncles, Lawrence and William B., 
married women of this surname. 

:rRobert Stanard survived the war. His son, born in 1865, was named for 
Beverly. 0 

Gen. Letcher presided at the Society's sum· 
mer dinner meeting at the Robert E. Lee Hotel July 30, 1962. 
The speaker was Professor W. Gleason Bean, former head of the 
Washington and Lee history department. Dr. Bean, who has 
published extensively in historical journals, is the author of the 
Liberty Hall Volunteers and Stonewall's Man: Sandie Pendleton. 

There follows a short resume of Dr. Bean's talk on the relation ... 
ship of Generals Lee and Jackson during the Civil War. D 

IT WAS NOT until the spring of 1862, when Lee became 
Jefferson Davis' military advisor and Commander of the Army of 
Northern Virginia that Jackson's independent command in the 
Shenandoah Valley came under Lee's control. It was at this time 
that the partnership between Lee and Jackson first took form. 

At once Lee sensed Jackson's integrity. Here was the beginning 
of an understanding that would make for effective cooperation. 

Lenoir Chambers, in his recent brilliant biography of Jackson, 
wrote that while Jackson and Lee were far apart, as far as com­
munications went, they were always able, through their letters and 
orders, to project themselves into the future. Each had the sagacity 
to discern what the other was thinking or desired. Lee never had 
a subordinate so quick to grasp his thoughts or so reliable in carrying 
them out or, when on his own, in taking care of himself while he 
fitted all his movements to the grand purpose as did Jackson in the 
Valley Campaign of 1862. 

Wartime 
Relationship 
between Lee 
and Jackson 
by Dr. W. 
Gleason Bean 

43 



Wartime 
Relationship 

between Lee 
and Jackson 

by Dr. W. 
Gleason Bean 

44 

After the decisive victory of the Seven Days fighting Lee found 
himself faced with a new threat, another Federal army under Gen. 
John Pope who was advancing from Washington toward the Virginia 
Central Railroad, Lee's vital communication with the Valley of 
Virginia, his bread basket. 

To operate against Pope, Jackson was sent with a semi,independent 
command, while Lee kept his eye on McClellan at Harrison Landing 
on the James, where he was licking his wounds after his defeat 
around Richmond. 

To Jackson, Lee gave the following instructions: "I must now 
leave the matter of Pope to your reflection and judgment. Make up 
your mind what is best to be done under all circumstances, and let 
me hear the results at which you arrive." 

Tuned to each other with rare sympathy, they acted not as 
superior and subordinate, but as equals with a single purpose. 

In Lee's subsequent offensive operations, he always selected 
Jackson for detached, hazardous assignments such as the daring 
flanking movements at both Second Manassas, August, 1862, and 
Chancellorsville, May, 1863, and at the capture of Harper's Ferry 
in the Maryland Campaign, September, 1862. In all these campaigns 
he relied upon Stonewall Jackson to work out any problems of 
strategy or tactics which might present themselves. To Jackson, Lee 
gave broad, discretionary orders, leaving it to his lientenant to 
decide on how to do the job. 

On several occasions, Jackson demonstrated his zealous devotion 
to his chieftain. During the winter of 1862,63, when the Army of 
Northern Virginia was encamped in the vicinity of Fredericksburg, 
Lee once sent word that he wanted to talk with Jackson at his con, 
venience on a matter of no great urgency. Thereupon Jackson arising 
at daybreak and without breakfast rode through a blinding snow 
storm to Lee's headquarters, 15' miles away. 

Lee expressed amazement, saying, "You know, General, I did 
not wish you to come in such a storm. It was a matter of no im, 
portance and I am sorry you had such a ride." Jackson blushed and 
simply said: "I received your note, General." 

On another occasion when it was suggested that he might return 
to an independent command in the Valley, Jackson answered that 
instead he preferred a subordinate position near Gen. Lee-a 
manifestation of the highest proof of his loyalty to Lee. 

Jackson's personal loyalty to Lee was intimately bound up with 
his confidence in Lee's military ability. Once when another officer 
had criticized Lee, Jackson instantly replied: "Lee is a phe·nomenon. 
He is the only man I would follow blindfold." 

And what did Gen. Lee think of Jackson? In the Valley cam, 
paign of 1862, Lee showed complete confidence in Jackson's discre, 
tion. At a critical moment in this campaign Jackson submitted three 
operational plans to Lee for consideration. Lee replied: "I must leave 



the one to be adopted to your judgment.,, At the end of this victorious 
campaign in which Jackson had tied down in the Valley Federal 
troops ear,marked for McClellan's Army which was threatening 
Richmond, Lee wrote to his trusted lieutenant: "Your recent 
successes have been the liveliest joy in this army as well as in the 
country. The admiration excited by your skill and boldness has 
been constantly mingled with solicitude for your situation.,, 

Lee's deep affection for Jackson and his confidence in him cannot 
be questioned. Before and after the Army of Northern Virginia 
was organized into two corps under Gen. James Longstreet and 
Gen. Jackson, Lee always remained with Longstreet on the march, 
and left Jackson to operate independently, as if Longstreet were 
more in need of personal supervision than Jackson. 

In recommending Jackson for the rank of lieutenant general in 
the fall of 1862, Lee wrote President Jefferson Davis: "He is true, 
honest and brave, has a single eye to the good of the service, and 
spares no exertion to accomplish his object.,, 

Yet Lee did not hesitate to advise Jackson as freely as he would 
any other subordinate. 

The wounding of Jackson, his subsequent death and the realization 
of his loss elicited from Gen. Lee's expressions of warmth so unusual 
as to be almost startling. Upon being informed by Capt. R. E. 
Wilbourn of Jackson's staff of the wounding of Gen. Jackson, Lee 
moaned and almost wept, saying, "Ah, captain, any victory is dearly 
bought which deprives us of the services of Gen. Jackson even for 
a short time.,, 

On that beautiful Sunday morning of May 10, 1865, when he 
was informed that Jackson could probably not live through the day, 
Lee at :first refused to believe it, saying: "Surely God will not take 
him from us now that we need him so much.,, 

To the bearer of the news, Lee said with tears in his eyes and 
his voice shaking, "When you return, I trust you will :find him 
better. When a suitable occasion offers, give him my love, and tell 
him that I wrestled in prayer for him last night, as I never prayed 
for myself.,, 

Notifying Gen. Jeb Stuart of Jackson's death, Lee said, "The 
great and good Jackson is no more ... He died calm, happy and 
serene. May his spirit pervade our whole army; our country will 
then be secure.,, 

In his official report of the battle of Chancellorsville, Jackson's 
last battle, Lee spoke in a similar strain, paying tribute to "the 
matchless energy and skill that marked this last act of his life, 
forming as it did, a worthy conclusion of that long series of splendid 
achievements which won for him the lasting love and gratitude of 
his country." 

It was only after the war that General Lee gave a glimpse of 
what he may have thought in 1863 of the ultimate consequence of 
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the removal of Jackson from the scene. In a conversation with one 
of his friends at Washington College, of which he was then president, 
he remarked, "If I had had Stonewall Jackson, as far as man can 
see, I should have won the battle of Gettysburg." • 

on October 29, 1962, the Society met at the 
Castle; Gen. Letcher presided. The evening's paper was read by 
Paul R. Cockshutt, a history major at W & L, on the subject of 
Gov. John Letcher's efforts to preserve the Union shortly before the 
Civil War. The paper received W & L's 1962 Society of the 
Cincinnati award. D 

FROM TIME TO time throughout history there have been men 
in positions of grave responsibility who have been able to stand firm 
in the face of blind passion and steep emotion of crisis and provide 
leadership characterized by calm deliberation and clairvoyance. Such 
a man was John Letcher, forty-first Governor of Virginia and Chief 
Executive of the Old Dominion during the most difficult period of 
her history. 

Letcher was elected Governor in 1859 after an unusually 
strenuous campaign in which he was continually maligned as a 
traitor to the Southern cause, mainly because of his alleged previous 
association with the so-called Ruffner pamphlet, which was an 
anti-slavery tract published in 184 7, and because of his abhorrence 
for radical sectionalism. 

A long-time Jacksonian Democrat from Rockbridge County, 
Letcher defeated his Whig opponent, secessionist W. L. Goggin of 
Bedford County by a majority of 5,579 votes. The victor's strongest 
support came mainly from the counties which today make up the 
state of West Virginia and from the valley counties north of 
Roanoke County. His showing was poorest in the Piedmont and 
Tidewater areas of the state. The balloting was characterized by 
the defection of free-soil Whigs to Letcher in the Northwest and 
of pro-slavery Democrats to Goggin in the East. 

In an editorial on June 9, 1859, the Washington 'National Era 
hailed Letcher's election as a hopeful sign for a relaxation of 
"slavery fanaticism" and looked forward to an administration 
dedicated to "Reason, Justice, and Freedom." And indeed, through­
out the entire nation pro-Unionists looked with hopeful eyes upon 
John Letcher as he assumed the duties of Governor of the most 
influential of the border states. 

Letcher took office on January 1, 1860, and shortly thereafter 
delivered his first address to the Virginia General Assembly. The 



situation in Virginia at that time was marked by severe tension and 
agitation. The troops called out to put down John Brown's raid at 
Harper's Ferry were still on active duty. Virginians were reacting 
strongly against abolitionist praise of Brown's actions. As a result, 
radicals in Virginia such as Letcher's predecessor, Henry Wise, and 
other secessionists were gaining ground on Virginia moderates. 

But as Letcher addressed the Assembly for the :first time as 
Governor, it became clear that he would not be swayed by radicals 
of either side. He began his speech with a synopsis of sectional har­
mony in "those earlier and better days of the Republic." He went on 
to place the blame for the current sectional crisis squarely upon the 
North, citing particularly Northern attacks on the institution of 
slavery, efforts to restrain it in the territories, and attempts at 
nullifying the Fugitive Slave Act. 

Then, characteristically, he asked for an easing of tensions on 
all sides. "It becomes conservative patriots of the nation to unite 
and determine upon a line of policy that shall govern their future 
action.,, While he was a strong supporter of moderation, Letcher 
also believed in the necessity for concrete ideas to strengthen his 
moderation. And so he called for a convention of all the states, 
under the provisions of Article V of the United States Constitution, 
"to ascertain whether the question in controversy cannot be settled 
upon some basis mutually satisfactory to both sections.,, He called 
upon the Virginia legislature to initiate this action by passing a 
resolution supporting a National Convention and sending invitations 
to all the states. 

He also asked that prominent Virginians should be sent to all 
states having Personal Liberty Laws "to insist, in the name of 
Virginia, upon their unconditional repeal" for the sake of the Union. 

Letcher predicted the worst circumstances if Northern aggression 
continued and if a Republican were elected President of the United 
States in November. •'The election of such a man, entertaining such 
sentiments and advocating such doctrines ought to be resisted by 
slaveholding states.,, 

The Governor, however, concluded his address upon a note 
which left no doubt concerning the way he felt about the Union: 
I am now and have ever been a friend of the Union of the States. 
I appreciate its value, ardently desire its preservation and would 
not rashly hazard its existence. 

After the raid on Harper's Ferry a large number of South 
Carolinians became convinced that Northern abolitionists had begun 
open warfare on slavery. Hence, resolutions were passed in the 
South Carolina legislature calling for the initiation of an entirely 
Southern convention for the purpose of strengthening the unity of 
the South for the defense of Southern rights. 

Charles A. Memminger, a distinguished Charlestonian, was 
appointed to the important post of Commissioner to Virginia by 
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South Carolina's Governor William Gist. 
The purpose of Memminger's mission was not to attempt to 

preserve the Union but to attempt to induce Virginia into a new 
Southern Confederacy. He sought at all costs to see to it that, in 
case of war, Virginia would not side with the Union. 

But Governor Letcher had called for a convention of all the 
states in his address to the Virginia Assembly. Letcher had in mind 
the strengthening of the Union as the object of the convention he had 
proposed. Memminger therefore had his doubts that Virginia would 
be willing to take any radical steps at that time. 

The South Carolinian was received courteously by Virginia 
officials and was invited to address the Legislature on January 19. 
Yet, beneath the public expressions of good will there was a feeling, 
which Memminger expressed in private correspondence, that he 
would not get far with the Virginia Assembly. 

His fears were validated when Memminger 's address to the 
Assembly, which called for a Southern conference to precede 
Letcher's National Convention, met with apathetic response from the 
Virginia legislators and the Virginia press. This apathy seemed to 
reflect an early vote of confidence for Letcher 's conciliatory approach 
to the situation. On February 6, therefore, a discouraged, unsuc· 
cessful Charles Memminger returned to South Carolina saying, "My 
visit here has shown me that no cooperation in advance of secession 
can be had from Virginia." 

Continuing his calculated efforts to preserve the peace, Letcher, 
on March 28, ordered all the Virginia troops, who had been involved 
in the Brown raid and were still stationed at Charlestown, to return 
to their homes. He spent the rest of the year trying to round up the 
participants of the Harper's Ferry raid who had escaped to Northern 
states. He met with little cooperation from the governors of those 
states, and this action made Letcher increasingly apprehensive about 
the good faith of the North. He also rejected all Northern pleas 
for clemency for those Brownites who had not already been hanged, 
because he felt, and correctly, that most Virginians believed that 
the conspirators ought to be hanged. 

Virginia Democrats were at each other's throats during the 
Presidential election year of 1860, as they sought a candidate from the 
Old Dominion who could capture the Presidential nomination. Two 
opposing factions developed within the Democracy. One wing, 
conservative, was led by U. S. Senator R. M. T. Hunter. The other, 
radical and supporting secession, was headed by former Governor 
Henry Wise. Letcher had supported the Hunterite wing of the 
Party, partly because he felt an intense dislike for Wise's radicalism 
and partly because Hunter's conservative beliefs seemed in line 
with his own. 

The Democratic National Convention met in Charleston, South 
Carolina, on April 23, but was disrupted shortly thereafter by a 



walk-out of delegates from the deep South. The Northern and 
Border State delegates then reconvened in Baltimore, while the deep 
South group met in Richmond. 

The Hunterites went to Baltimore hoping to be able to heal the 
rift in the Party, but planned to go with the South if concessions 
were ·not made on slave issues. The concessions were not made and 
most of the remaining Southerners, including four-fifths of the 
Virginia delegation with Hunter at their head, walked out and held 
their own .. Seceders convention,, in Baltimore. They followed the 
lead of the Richmond convention and nominated John Breckinridge. 
The Northern Democrats proceeded to nominate Stephen Douglas. 

It was at this point that Letcher left the Hunterite wing of the 
Democracy and joined the sparse ranks of Douglas Democrats in 
Virginia. His move was prompted by two considerations. First, he 
felt that Douglas was the legal Democratic candidate. Secondly, he 
was disgusted by the extremism of men like Rhett, Yancey and 
Wise, as well as Hunter who had become more radical since Baltimore. 
He felt these men had permanently split the Party and were now 
seeking to employ the same tactics on the Union. 

When the ballots were counted on election day, however, it was 
a third-party candidate who emerged victorious in Virginia. John 
Bell, candidate of the Constitutional Union Party, carried the state 
by a small plurality of 3 5 8 votes. Breckinridge placed second, and 
Douglas, despite Letcher's vocal support, finished a weak third. 
Abraham Lincoln polled only 1,929 votes in the whole state, most 
of these coming from the panhandle area around Wheeling. 

These returns did not indicate a strong desire in Virginia for 
secession. Bell and Douglas, the first and third place contenders in 
the state were both strong Union men, and Breckinridge stood more 
for extreme Southern rights than for immediate secession. Letcher 
could interpret these returns as another indication of general support 
throughout the state for a policy of watchful waiting. 

A short while before Lincoln was elected, Governor Letcher 
had promised the James River and Kanawha Canal Company that 
he would call the General Assembly into extra session on January 
14, 1861, to consider an offer by a French company to purchase 
the canal. Then on November 7, directly following Lincoln's election, 
ninety-four members of the legislature petitioned the Governor to call 
the extra session for the first Monday in December, in light of the 
crisis caused by the election of Lincoln. Letcher compromised by 
setting January 7, 1861, as the date for the legislature to convene. 

Letcher addressed the Assembly on its first day in session. His 
message was not unlike the one he had delivered the year before 
when he had become governor. However, by now the ranks of the 
secessionists had greatly increased, due mainly to the election of 
Lincoln, the secession of South Carolina, and the failure of the 
Congress in Washington to come to any agreement which might 
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settle the sectional crisis. 
Letcher 's address outlined the problems and dangers which 

challenged the nation as well as Virginia: 
The condition of our country at this time excites the most serious 

fears for the perpetuation of the Union . ... Surely no people have 
been blessed as we have been, and it is melancholy to thin]{ that all 
is now sacrificed [on] the Altar of Passion. If the judgment of men 
were consulted, if the admonitions of their consciences were respected, 
the Union would yet be saved from overthrow. 

He went on to condemn South Carolina for her secession, saying 
that a situation .. involving consequences so serious to all the slave, 
holding states, no one state should have ventured to move without 
:first having given timely notice to the others of her purpose.,, Letcher 
also attacked the governors of South Carolina and Mississippi for 
proposing a tax on slaves brought to those two states from the 
border states as a means of .. blackmailing" them into secession. To 
Letcher, this was as much .. coercion" on their parts, as was the 
Federal Government's action toward South Carolina and Mississippi. 

Letcher also expressed his opposition to a plan to call a State 
Convention for the purpose of weighing the issues of the crisis 
at hand. He felt that the General Assembly was capable of handling 
the situation as it had before. But he did favor the adoption of a 
resolution by the General Assembly, which again called for the 
sending of commissioners appointed by the Assembly to the Northern 
states which still had Personal Liberty Laws, and respectfully urge 
that they be repealed. 

And, as in his first address to the legislature, he called for a 
convention of all the states under Article V of the U. S. Constitution. 
He requested that Virginia begin this action by passing a resolution 
advocating this National Convention and then sending the resolution 
on to the other states for their consideration. 

He concluded the address by laying down a six,point plan which 
he believed would remedy the tense situation: 

1. Abolishment of all Personal Liberty Laws 
2. The protection of slavery in the District of Columbia 
3. Free entry of slavery into the territories 
4. No interference with inter,state transportation of slaves 
5. Punishment for those who incite slave uprisings 
6. No appointment of local officers in slave states by the 

Federal Government. 
He restated his belief in a state's right to secede, and warned 

that in the event of armed conflict, he would not permit Federal 
troops to pass through Virginia to get to the seceded states. There 
was ·nothing basically new about the address. Similar proposals had 
been made a year ago. But the speech did illustrate how strongly 
Letcher was attached to the Union and how great his interest was 
in preserving it. 



Most Virginians felt that Letcher had spoken too moderately. 
A member of the Assembly expressed his disapproval, declaring that 
the "time and people are ripe for secession." So displeased was the 
Assembly that they hesitated in printing up 1, 500 copies of the 
speech, arguing that the Governor had not expressed their views. 

In both houses of the legislature resolutions were introduced 
condemning ••coercion" of any kind and suggesting the immediate 
reform of the militia. Shortly afterward the legislature expressed its 
loyalty to the South and its cognizance of its essentially Southern 
status by passing a resolution which agreed that if efforts to resolve 
the "unhappy differences existing between the two sections of the 
country shall prove to be abortive," then Virginia should cast her 
lot with the slave states of the South. 

And yet, there was still strong Union sentiment in the Assembly. 
Thus the Governor's proposal for a National Co·nvention was care, 
fully considered. A resolution was finally passed inviting every 
state in the Union "willing to unite with Virginia in an earnest 
effort to adjust the unhappy controversies ... to meet on the 
fourth day of February next, in the City of Washington." At the 
same time another resolution was passed which provided for the 
immediate appointment of former President John Tyler, Judge John 
W. Brockenbrough, George W. Summers, William C. Rives, and 
James Seddon as delegates from Virginia to the Conference, which 
came to be known as the Washington Peace Conference of 1861. 

Twenty,one states responded to Virginia's call and the delegates 
gathered in Washington's Willard's Hall on February 4. More than 
likely, this "Old Gentleman's Convention" was the last hope of saving 
the Union. But, the conference failed, mainly because of a lack of 
distinguished personnel and because the time for compromise seemed 
to have passed. States from the lower South did not even attend. 
Hence this attempt to preserve the Union and the peace, which 
Letcher had inspired, could do little if anything to halt the steady 
drift toward open conflict. 

In his speech to the extra session of the Assembly on January 17 
Letcher had expressed his opposition to a special State Convention 
on the grounds that the calling of such a convention, at that time, 
iwould be an unnecessary, inflammatory action. The Assembly 
ignored the Governor's opposition and went on to pass a resolution 
asking that Letcher call a State Convention. On January 15 he 
regretfully issued a proclamation calling for the Convention. 

Letcher wished Virginia to be ready for any occurrence and so, 
although he would not drift toward secession with the radicals in 
his state, he did take steps to strengthen the Virginia military by 
purchasing more and trying to secure for the Virginia forces the 
services of prominent officers then in the United States Army; but 
most were reluctant. From New York, Major George Thomas replied 
to a letter sent to him at Letcher's request by Major Gilham of VMI, 
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declining to resign his commission in the U. S. Army to become 
Chief of Ordinance of the State: 

It is not my wish to leave the service of the United States as 
long as it is honorable for me to remain in it, and therefore as long 
as my native state Virginia remains in the Union it is my purpose 
to remain in the army unless required to perform duties repulsive 
to honor and humanity. 

Meanwhile an election for delegates to the State Convention had 
been held on February 4 and the returns showed that the majority 
of delegates elected were opposed to Virginia's secession at that 
time. The voters also decided that the proposals of the Convention 
should be submitted to them for final ratification. 

The Convention assembled on February 13 with Unionists and 
moderates in control. But it was not long before that control was 
lost. The failure of the Washington Peace Conference, Lincoln's 
strong inaugural address, and the realization that Lincoln was not 
going to give up Fort Sumter, all severely damaged the moderates' 
cause. Throughout the state popular sentiment was also beginning to 
turn to secession. For about a month and a half the proponents of 
secession and union struggled, debating Virginia's future at the 
Conve11tion. On April 4, a secession resolution was defeated by a 
vote of gg,45. But this was only a temporary set,back for the 
secessionists. 

Then on April 12, Fort Sumter was attacked. On April 15' 
President Lincoln called upon Virginia to supply 75' ,000 troops to 
help crush the rebellion. Letcher replied to Lincoln on the 16th: 

In reply to this communication I have only to say that the 
militia of Virginia will not be furnished to the powers at Washington 
for any such use or purpose as they have in view. Your object is to 
subjugate the Sou.them States, and a requisition made upon me for 
such an object-an object, in my judgment, not within the purview 
of the Constitution or the Act of 1795-will not be complied with. 
You have chosen to inaugurate civil war, and having done so, we 
will meet it in a spirit as determined as the Administration has 
exhibited toward the Sou.th. 

Then on April 17, the Virginia Convention, feeling that Lincoln's 
action was coercive and that it was opposed by the vast majority 
of Virginians, passed a secession resolution 88 to 5' 5. The opposition 
to the resolution came mainly from the delagates from the pro-Union 
Northwest. 

Letcher responded quickly to the Convention's action with a 
proclamation in which he declared that Lincoln's call for troops was 
unconstitutional and presented a threat to Virginia's safety. He 
then summoned all volunteer regiments or companies in Virginia 
to stand ready for a call to active duty. 

The spirit in which the actions of Letcher and the Convention 
were received is reflected in the Richmond Examiner of April 17: 



'The great event of all our lives has come to pass. A war of 
gigantic proportions, infinite consequences and indefinite du.ration 
is on us and will affect the interests and happiness of every man, 
woman or child, lofty or humble, in this country called Virginia. 
We cannot shun it, we connot alleviate it, we cannot stop it. 

In another contemporary account of what happened in Richmond 
on April 1 7, the proceedings of a celebration at Metropolitan Hall 
are described : 

(Former) Governor Wise ... Hon. ]. M. Mason, and many 
other of Virginia's distinguished sons were called upon and delivered 
patriotic speeches, and finally Gov. Letcher appeared on the stage. 
He was loudly cheered by the very men who, two days before, 
would gladly have witnessed his execution. 'The Governor spol(.e 
briefly, merely declaring his concurrence in the important step that 
had been tal(.en, and his honest purpose, under the circumstances, 
to discharge his whole duty as Executive of the State, in conformity 
to the will of the people and the provisions of the Constitii.tion. 

During his first year and a half as Governor, John Letcher had 
been strenuous in his efforts on behalf of peace and Union. He had 
shared fully in the agony of his country and of his State. Radicals 
of the North and South as well succeeded only in earning his 
contempt as they sought to discourage him from the courageous 
course he sought to follow. Consequently he was violently attacked 
by both sides as a traitor to both causes. But when Virginia officially 
seceded on April 17, Letcher followed his State as he had always 
said that he would. 

And so April 1 7 was for John Letcher an end and a beginning: 
The end of a long and lonely struggle for peace and moderation; 
the beginning of long months of forthright leadership as Civil War 
Governor of the State of Virginia. • 
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T Society met January 28, 1963, at the 
Trinity Methodist Church with Gen. Letcher presiding. The 
evening's paper was read by Dr. Charles W. Turner, Professor of 
History at W & L and Librarian and past President of the Society. 
Dr. Turner is the author of Chessie's Road, a comprehensive study 
of the Chesapeake and Ohio Railway, published in 195 6, and 
Mississippi West, a topical treatment of the American West, pub, 
lished in 1965. He has also written a number of articles in historical 
journals. 

. Dr. Turner published a paper entitled '"Letters (1790-1800) of 
John Johnston, Rockbridge Medical Student and Doctor" in the 
April, 1959, Journal of the History of Medicine. In his talk to the 
Society on the same subject, he quoted part or all of ten letters from 
the collection of letters found in the .. Stone House," the Johnston 
family home just outside of Lexington. A portion of his talk is in­
cluded here. D 

DR. JOHN JOHNSTON WAS born November 15, 1764, in 
Fishersville, Augusta County, Virginia, of Scotch,Jrish parentage. 
His father, Zachariah, a leading citizen of his section, had attended 
Liberty Hall Academy and served in the House of Delegates in 
Richmond where he had supported the Jeffersonian principles, 
sponsored the Bill for Religious Freedom, and favored ratification 
of the Constitution of the United States. The elder Johnston 
acquired a large amount of land in a number of western Virginia 
counties and in Kentucky, and about 1793 the family moved to 
Lexington where he built ""Stone House.,, This house stands today, 
with descendants of the Johnston family still residing there1 In this 
place were found about twenty letters of John, written to his father, 
describing his student days in the Medical Department of the College 
of Philadelphia, founded in 1765, and letters describing his first 
practice and life in Staunton, Virginia.2 

John attended the '"old field schools" of that day and joined 
the Presbyterian church. Early in 1 790, he decided to prepare himself 
for a medical career in the Medical School in Philadelphia or some 
place in Europe. Funds were insufficient for the latter, so he bade 
his family farewell and set out on a horse given him by his father, 
arriving in Philadelphia early in the Spring of that year. 

The first letter speaks of his settling in Philadelphia. He tells 
about his having been confined for a while to his ""gloomy room" 
with smallpox and then celebrating the 4th of July in Philadelphia 
in 1790. '"The bells over the whole city rang." He mentions having 
had ""an opportunity of seeing every kind of opperation that can be 



performd on the human body, also the treatment of every kind 
of disease that is incident to the human system." He was elected 
••a member of the Philesophical & Litreture Societys", a student 
organization. 

In 1791, John wrote he was having financial difficulties but 
appeared to be progressing well in his studies. His letter on July 7 
stated: .. I am very closely confined to the business. I have never 
been out of this city since I arrived here, and [I am] seldom ever 
in bed to eleven or twelve o'clock at night, beside attending to 
Doctor Say's extensive private pra(c]tise I attend all the public 
receptacles for the poor viz. the Hospital, Bettering House & Dis­
pensery8 ... I live in a Quaker family at present. The(y] treat 
me with every mark of friendship. I have the happiness to be high 
in the estimation of the professors of the University." 

In another letter to his father dated September 14, 1791, he 
spoke of his progress : .. Since I wrote you last, I have been appointed 
as an Assistent in the General Dispensary of Philadelphia, where 
I receive a compensation of £25 or 30 per annum, and if I continue 
any longer than I graduate I am intiteled to one hundred & sixty 
pounds per annum which I believe will not be an object sufficient 
to detain me longer than I graduate which I expect will be in Feby." 

John became an established and prominent doctor in Staunton 
about 1796. He lived 17 years longer, practiced medicine, and 
accumulated cattle and property which later letters of his brother's 
record. He died on April 4, 1815, and was buried in the Johnston 
Cemetery at Salem where his tombstone may be seen. • 

1At the time this paper was originally published (19S'9) the Misses Susan 
and Anne Johnstone lived at .. Stone House." At the time of this publication 
the owner is another direct descendent of Zachariah Johnston's, Mr. M. W. 
Paxton, Jr. 

2Material taken from Roc~bridge County 'News, August 16, 1934; John G. 
Paxton .. Zachariah Johnston," Tyle-r's Genealogical ~uarterly, V. 18S', Joseph 
A. Waddell, Annals of Augusta County, Staunton, Virginia, 1902, P. 340. 

8Bettering House was the public almshouse. The Dispensary, established 
1786, provided medical care to the city's poor. 0 

on April 26, 1963, the Society met at the 
Castle; Gen. Letcher presided. The evening's paper was given by 
Maj. Stanley W. Campbell, assistant professor of history at VMI. 

Maj. Campbell has done extensive research in the problems of 
fugitive slaves and his paper represents a considerable amount of 
original work in this field of study. D 

THE PROBLEM OF the fugitive slave was an important factor 
in the evolution of the institution of slavery in the United States, 

Spelling not changed 
In letters quoted. 
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and it affected the slaveholder in several ways. First, the owner lost 
property when a slave ran away, for a slave was worth between 
$250 and $500 in the :first three decades of the nineteenth century. 
Second, the operation of the plantation was affected because success­
ful management demanded a :fixed and stable labor force . Care of the 
slaves was of :first importance for profitable operation in the planta, 
tion system. Runaways had an adverse affect on the other slaves, 
and it was costly to have the slave returned. Finally, if the runaway 
managed to get to a free state, the slave owner stood a good chance 
of failing to recover his property because of opposition to the 
institution of slavery in many northern states. Opposition was 
manifested by the passage of personal liberty laws, and other 
ordinances, which made it difficult to apprehend and return fugitive 
slaves from those states where such laws had been enacted. Therefore, 
slave owners were vitally interested irt reducing the number of 
runaway slaves to an absolute minimum. 

This papers deals with the fugitive slave problem in Virginia 
during the thirty years preceding the Nat Turner revolt. The 
principal source for this study was the fugitive slave advertisements 
in the Richmond Enquirer.1 These advertisements contain a great 
deal of information and have the strong asset of being reasonably 
objective. The slave owner was usually dispassionate in describing 
his runaway property. 

The advertisements for runaway slaves have certain weaknesses, 
however, which must be kept in mind. First, they reveal the point 
of view of the master rather than the slave. This is unfortunate, 
but little can be done to give balance to the picture. Few Negroes 
have written about their lives as runaways, and still fewer of these 
accounts are exta.nt. Second, the total number of runaways cannot 
be determined from this source because an unknown number of slaves 
who absented themselves from their owners were never advertised in 
the newspapers. 

From a statistical point of view, the problem of runaway slaves 
in Virginia before 1830 has no great significance. The total slave 
population in Virginia in 1800 was 345,796; by 1830 it had increased 
to 469,757. During the period 1804 to 1828, only 1,253 slaves were 
advertised by the Richmond Enquirer as runaways. Of this number, 
by far the greater majority were men. In fact, 84.1 per cent of the 
total runaways reported were males. Seventy,two out of ninety,seven 
counties were represented in the advertisements of fugitive slaves. 
As might be expected, the greater Richmond area reported the 
highest number of runaways. Perhaps the explanation for this is that 
the Enquirer was in Richmond. The average number of runaways 
per year was about sixty. This does not have much meaning, 
however, because the number of fugitives from labor per year 
reached a peak following the War of 181 7, and then declined 
steadily until 1830. There is little to account for this phenomenon 



in the sources that were consulted. 
One of the more interesting aspects of the runaway slave 

problem was the lackadaisical attitude of the slaveholders toward 
their fugitive slaves. Usually there was a considerable time lapse 
between the time the slaves ran away and the date they were advertised 
as fugitives. In January, 1811, for example, Archer Hankins re­
ported that his slave George had run away the previous July. And 
in April, 1811, John S. Payne of Campbell County reported that 
three of his slaves had absconded in January. This seems to have 
been a general practice, and indicates that the slaveholders were 
in no particular hurry to retrieve their lost property. 

The owners of fugitive slaves usually described their runaways 
with great care. If the fugitive had any distinguishing marks, they 
were noted in the advertisements. Robert Lewis of Albermarle County 
described his runaway in the following manner: 
EIGHTY DOLLARS REW ARD-Ran away from the Subscriber 
on the 4th of April, in the city of Richmond, a mulatto fellow, 
about 30 years of age, 5 feet 6 or 8 inches high; is remar~able on 
account of having red curly hair e;, grey eyes which generally 
appear to be sore; one of his legs somewhat shorter than the other, 
though scarcely to be perceived without nice observation; when 
standing, is very apt to stand fast on his right leg, and rather 
extend the left. In pronouncing the word whis~ey, which he is 
very fond of, and apt to call for at a public house, he pronounces it 
whisty . ... He is a very humble, obedient fellow, and when spo~en 
to, has a down Zoo~. It is not improbable that he may obtain free 
papers, to endeavor to pass as a free man, having absconded from 
his boat in the basin at Richmond, with about $120 in cash. 2 

Scars of various sorts were more important identifying marks and 
slave owners were usually careful to note all the scars on the bodies 
of their slaves. Many of the scars were the result of a whip. Samuel 
McCrary of Rockbridge County, when describing his runaway 
slave stated that " ... on examining his back, it will be found very 
much scarred on account of whipping."3 Betsey was described as "a 
Negro . . . woman . . . [with] no scars recollected except one on 
the back of her neck, which appears to have been made by the lash 
of a whip. . . . " 4 Sometimes the scars were caused by branding 
irons. Perhaps the most branded Negro in Virginia was the slave 
of Thomas Coleman of Lunenburg County. He was branded on 
each cheek with the letter "C", and with the same letter in the 
middle of his forehead. He had also been branded in three places 
on his chest. 5 

Despite the anti-Negro sentiment so prevalent in Virginia, the 
white people who had to deal with runaways were not completely 
without feeling, particularly in caring for the younger Negroes who 
had managed to escape. A thirtee·n-year-old Negro boy was arrested 
in Buckingham County. When questioned, the boy said that he 
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had been kidnapped when ··very young,,. and thought he had been 
sold about ten times. Tanner's materials had been used in an 
attempt to make him yellow, presumably because lighter colored 
Negroes were preferred for house servants and would therefore 
bring a higher price. The notice appeared in the newspaper in an 
attempt to acquaint the boy's parents or friends with the case which 
was pending before the court of Buckingham County. Another 
example was the concern shown by Samuel Carter of Halifax County 
who had picked up a young Negro boy who had been lost from 
a slave,trading expedition. He would have been placed in jail, said 
Carter, but the boy was ill when caught and too young to put in jail. 

Although the runaway slave problem was always a thorn in the 
planter's side, little concern was generally exhibited for the return 
of fugitive slaves. There were several instances in which the owner 
knew where his slave was hiding, but rather than go after the slave 
himself he would offer a reward for the return of his slave, or for hav, 
ing him placed in jail. The amount of rewards offered seems rather 
small when compared to the value of the slaves. The rewards offered 
during this period ranged between $3.00 and $300.00. The latter 
:figure was exceedingly rare. The law required that a specified 
amount be paid depending upon where the runaway was appre, 
bended. If a fugitive slave were caught in Maryland or Kentucky, 
the reward was to be $25.00 plus $.25 per mile for traveling 
expenses. In Delaware, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, or 
Ohio, the reward was $50.00 plus traveling expenses. The average 
reward offered was about $25.00, although a higher reward was 
offered for the more valuable slaves. 6 

Since relatively few slaves ran away, one might Mk if there were 
anything that distinguished the runaway from his more docile brother 
who stayed at home. Little is known about the characteristics of slaves 
generally, and it is difficult to make a meaningful comparison. But 
certain characteristics of fugitive slaves might be pointed out. 

The average age of the runaway slave was about twenty,seven 
years, but their ages ranged from ten to sixty. To run away and remain 
at large for an extended period of time required co·nsiderable agility, 
ingenuity, and bravery. The fugitive slave had to be extremely 
careful in moving about because any white citizen had the right to 
stop any Negro and demand to see his free pass. 7 Many times the 
runaway was forced to ··1ay up" during the day and move about at 
night. Unless aid was forthcoming from friends, the fugitive had to 

rely entirely on his own wits to obtain food and shelter. This helps 
explain why few slave women attempted to escape. Because of the 
danger and the rigor of such an existence, slave women were 
reluctant to run away. 

Fugitive slave advertisements seem to indicate that mistreatment 
was not the most important reason for running away. There was 
a great surplus of slaves in Virginia. Many slave owners were 



forced either to sell their excess slaves or hire them out to whomever 
they could. One of the results of this practice was that the slave 
was removed from the isolation of the plantation, and was thus 
provided with a greater opportunity to meet more people a·nd make 
more friends. Some slaves were hired as boatmen, others as laborers 
in the coal pits, brick yards, and rope walks. The slaves with special 
skills worked as hostlers, carriage drivers, and house servants. Many 
slaves were highly skilled craftsmen: blacksmiths, coopers, shoe, 
makers, barbers, brick masons, and carpenters. These slaves seemed 
to have more than average intelligence, or at least more general 
knowledge and experience, and their employment offered greater 
opportunity for escape. 

A significantly high percentage of runaway slaves had a wide 
association with white men. Evidence for this is that (1) several 
runaways had been hired out to various commercial and industrial 
enterprises; (2) many were house servants, seamstresses, carriage 
drivers, body servants, waiters, etc., which provided greater contact 
with white society; and (3) a majority of the fugitives reported 
lived in counties having large towns and cities. Cities and towns 
offered ample opportunity for the slave to observe and compare his 
own way of life with that of his master, and find his own wanting. 

Perhaps the most difficult question to answer is: what motivated 
the slaves to run away? There seems to have been no single cause; 
indeed, there may have been as many causes as there were fugitives. 
Any explanation that might be proposed must be arrived at by 
inference. But some generalizations can be made. 

The assumption that runaway slaves were motivated by some 
abstract sense of freedom is not born out by the evidence. It would 
be difficult to prove that slaves in this period even conceived of 
freedom in the abstract sense. If they had, it seems logica.1 that large 
numbers of fugitives from service or labor would have attempted 
to get across the free states and into Canada, where they would 
have been free; but such was not the case. Only 9 per cent of the 
runaways reported were thought to have been headed north toward 
freedom. The remainder stayed within the slave states where they 
could be picked up at any time without due process of law. The 
point is not that the Negro slave was incapable of conceptualizing the 
Bill of Rights. The point is that slavery did not, as certain apologists 
have maintained, prepare the slave for freedom. Quite the contrary, 
the institution of slavery was designed to prepetuate itself. 

The most prevalent motives for running away were the breaking 
up of families, and the fear of being sold down the river. Alexander 
A. Campbell, for example, reported that his slave Stephen would 
flee to Madison County, Mississippi, because his wife had been sold 
the previous fall to a gentleman residing there. Gabriel fled from 
his owner in Buckingham County because his wife lived in Louisa 
County. And William Cook of Richmond reported that his slave 
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James had "absconded under the impression that he had been sold." 
The destination of fugitive slaves was closely related to their 

motive for escaping. It has been suggested that many slaves escaped 
in order to re-establish broken homes and family ties. Virginia was 
one of the principal sources for the domestic slave trade. This trade 
by its very nature caused many families to be broken up. Planters 
were continually buying, trading and selling their slaves. A few 
slaves were sold or traded as many as four or five times, and at 
least one slave was sold seven times.8 

Some of the slaves attempted to secure free papers and just 
drift, or find employment and try to escape detection. Evidently 
free papers were fairly easily procured even though they had to 
be forged. Few slaves could write, but a free Negro could usually 
be found who would forge a free pass. Free papers could be checked 
against the court records in the slave's home county, but if he were 
caught and returned to his master, another opportunity to escape 
usually presented itself. 9 Generally, if the runaway could reach the 
larger towns, his chances of being detected were considerably 
reduced. Jobs were more readily available in the towns, and the 
townspeople were less suspicious of a strange black face. It was 
also easier to hide in a town, and less dangerous for the slave. But 
anyone who harbored a runaway was taking quite a risk. The 
penalty for free persons was a fine of $10, and a free Negro who was 
unable to pay the fine was subject to corporal punishment not to 
exceed thirty-nine lashes.10 

The misery of many slaves did not begin until after they had 
escaped. They had continually to be on the lookout for slave patrols 
or someone who might recognize them. No Negro, bond or free, 
was safe from arrest and being returned to his master, if he had one, 
or sold to pay the jail fees. Jailers were required by law to provide 
adequate clothing and other basic necessities when needed, but some 
of the jailers were negligent and their prisoners suffered terribly, 
particularly in winter.11 One such instance of neglect occurred in 
King William County. The slave brought charges against the sheriff 
and the latter was fined $400.12 

Fugitive slaves who had been committed to jail were not per­
mitted to lie around and run up the bill for their board and room. 
The law permitted the sheriff to hire them for a period of three 
months and, if they were not claimed, for another three months, 
until a year had elapsed. The prisoner must then be sold to pay 
the jail fees. 13 In the meantime, the jailer was required to locate the 
runaway's owner, if he had one, and this was facilitated if the 
fugitive would reveal the name of his master. Many Negroes chose 
not to cooperate and claimed that they had either been born free or 
had been emancipated by a benevolent master. For example, Lucinda 
Patterson told a rather complicated story which was related by her 
jailer in Henrico County. She said she had been born free and was 

/ 



reared in Middlesex County by John Symes who had moved to 
Mississippi and had taken her with him. In 1819, she had escaped 
with the aid of a white mart who had taken her to New Orleans 
and then to Richmond. This was all very interesting, but her husband 
was made of less sterner stuff than she, and told a different story. 
As it turned out, they had escaped from a plantation near Raleigh, 
North Carolina, the previous Christmas. 

The fate of at least twelve runaways, who managed to escape 
to Wilmington, Delaware, is worth noting. Two Negro couples 
operated what proved in the end to be a very unprofitable business 
there. While their husbands were in Maryland and Virginia decoying 
runaway slaves into the state of Delaware, the wives were enticing 
into their web certain runaways who were promptly sold. The two 
women were finally arrested, and at their trial it was revealed that 
they had sold more than a dozen fugitive slaves back into slavery. 
These two benevolent ladies were imprisoned and later sold into 
slavery as punishment. 

Although the slave population in Virginia in 1830 exceeded 
469,000, relatively few slaves ran away, and fewer still managed 
to escape. The most probable explanation for this was the effective­
ness of the laws regulating the colored population. The laws relating 
to the fugitive slave problem are interesting because they were 
operative upon those who might give aid to the runaway rather 
than on the runaway himself. This practice took advantage of an 
existing situation and exploited it. The large Negro population, 
which in some counties outnumbered the white, created a desire on 
the part of the whites actively to control the servile Negroes with an 
extremely rigid slave code. The slave code of Virginia fails to reveal 
any benevolence toward the colored population. Many white men 
were indeed benevolent and paternalistic toward the Negro, but it 
was a benevolence and paternalism predicated upon a fixed caste 
system which seemed to disappear when the Negro aspired toward 
higher things. A climate of opinion existed, therefore, which made 
for good law enforcement with regard to the slaves. 

An analysis of the slave code reveals the futility of harsh 
legislation against the slave to prevent his running away. Severe 
punishment of the slaves, it was found, tended to cost more than 
the planter wanted to pay. Thus, the laws which were passed made 
it extremely difficult for the runaway to secure aid. And without 
help it was next to impossible to escape, and remain at large for 
any extended period of time. 

The fugitive slave problem was a constant irritant to the planter 
and other slaveholders. Captured fugitive slaves had a decreased value 
and often made the other slaves difficult to manage. But irritating 
as the problem was, slave owners were at a loss for a satisfactory 
remedy. It was not considered good business practice to unload an 
habitual runaway on a fellow planter. An exception, however, was 
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that in almost every instance of record those slaves returned from 
the free states were sold into the Deep South. The cost of returning 
a fugitive slave was so great that the slaveholder was forced to sell 
in order to get his money back. Actually, no satisfactory solution was 
ever found and, after 1830, there was a marked increase in the 
number of fugitive slaves. 

In conclusion, it appears that fugitive slaves generally had higher 
than average intelligence and usually had a closer association with 
white society than the field hand. This association was usually acquired 
by vocation or employment. Many runaways had learned a trade and 
were more independent. Because of their greater ability, closer 
association with white men, and their employment, they had greater 
opportunity to run away made greater by a desire to emulate the 
white man. There is little evidence to support the view that the 
average runaway was motivated by a desire for freedom in an 
abstract sense. Frequently he wanted merely to get back to his 
family, friends, or the place where he was reared. Often times the 
runaway was able to secure free papers and pass as a free Negro, 
but his chances of being caught were high, and if it could be de, 
termined who furnished aid to the fugitive, the punishment was 
severe. That so few slaves actually ran away is probably a tribute 
to the effectiveness of the laws designed to curtail the fugitive slave 
problem. This, coupled with the abysmal ignorance of the slave 
population generally, probably accounts for the fact that there. were 
so few fugitive slaves. • 

1The Richmond Enquirer was examined for the period September, 1804, 
through June, 1828. 

2Richmond Enquirer, June 24, 1817. 
3 lbid., September 5, 181 7. 

'Ibid., October 7, 1817. 

%id., July 1, 1823. 
6Benjamin W. Leigh, .Yhe Revised Code of the Laws of Virginia, etc., 2 

volumes (Richmond: Thomas Ritchie, 1819), II, 284-288; see also Samuel 
Shepherd, 'The Statutes at Large of Virginia from October Session, 1792 to 
December Session, 1806, etc., 3 volumes (Richmond, 1835,1836), III, 373. 

7William W. Hening, The Statutes at Large; Being a Collection of AH the 
Laws of Virginia from the First Session of the Legislature in the Year 1619, 
etc., 13 volumes (Richmond, 1819-1823), XII, 192; see also Shepherd, 
Statutes at LArge, III, 372; Revised Code (1819), II, 284. 

8Richmond Enquirer, November 8, 1815. 
9Shepherd, Statutes at Large, I, 238; II, 417; see also Revised Code (1819), 

I, 421-444. 
10Shepherd, Statutes at Large, II, 77. 
11Ibid., III, 372; see also Session Laws ( 1823 ), p. H. 
12Helen Turncliff Catterall, ed., Judicial Cases Concerning American Slavery 

and the 'Negro, 5 volumes (Washington: Carnegie Institution of Washington, 
1926-1927), I, 145. 

13Shepherd, Statutes at Large, III, 372-373; Session Laws (1823), p. 34. O 



T Society met for its summer dinner meeting 
on July 22, 1963, at Mountain View School in the South River 
district of the County. The speaker, the Rev. Mr. John S. Moore, 
minister of Lexington's Manly Memorial Baptist Church, delivered 
a paper on the life of Col. John Jordan. After the program, the 
group visited nearby Neriah Church, the first Baptist church in the 
area and one of the many County buildings constructed by John 
Jordan. Mr. Moore first read a paper on Jordan before the Virginia 
Baptist Historical Society, April 23, 1963, which was later printed 
in the Virginia Baptist Register, No. 2 (1963). Mr. Moore has also 
written a short history of the Baptist Church in Rockbridge County 
in No. 4 (1965) of the Register. His talk before the Society has been 
slightly condensed. D 

COL. JOHN JORDAN should be remembered for his contribu­
tion as a church leader and for his unusual qualities as a builder 
and civic leader in Rockbridge County for over fifty years. Jordan 
was no ordinary man; he tried many things and did them all well. 
He became somewhat of a legend in the Valley and left many 
things by which he will be remembered. 

When young Jordan and his new wife came to Rockbridge 
County in 1802, there was scarcely a Baptist in the entire region. 
Baptists even to this day are a minority group in the Valley. This 
fact has led to the observation that sweet potatoes and Baptists 
don't thrive in the Valley of Virginia. There is a definite reason for 
this in the history of the area. 

The Blue Ridge Mountains formed an early barrier to the 
settlement of the Valley from the east. Indians, provoked by the 
invasion of their best hunting ground, fought the white man with a 
strange ferocity. When the authorities of Colo·nial Virginia sent 
word into Pennsylvania that claims were open to those who would 
settle the Shenandoah Valley, the Scotch-Irish and Germans came 
in large numbers. The Germans located mainly around Harrisonburg, 
while the Scotch-Irish settled principally about Staunton and Lexing· 
ton. The Scotch-Irish were self-reliant and fearless, carving out a 
place for themselves in defiance of the Indians. Being staunch 
Presbyterians almost to a man, they founded their churches all 
down the Valley in the eighteenth century. Soon the Presbyterians 
were thicker per square mile than in any other part of the colony. 
A center of their strength was in Rockbridge County. The John 
Jordans found that the people around Lexington had little contact 
with Tidewater Virginia. For all practical purposes this was a 
different world from the one they had left. 
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The Baptists did not find it easy to establish a beachhead among 
these hardy Scotch Presbyterians who had Rockbridge County 
almost to themselves. The first Baptist work in the county was done 
by Elder Nathaniel Shrewsbury of Bedford County who established 
Buffalo Baptist Church on South Buffalo Creek near Rapp's Mill 
among a few Baptist families who had migrated from Botetourt 
County. The first mention of the Buffalo Church is in the minutes 
of the Strawberry Baptist Association for its meeting on the first 
Saturday in October, 1 798. This church continued for a number 
of years with a checkered and obscure existence. The congregation 
was unable to win men with sufficient leadership and stability to 
form a lasting church. Their meeting house seems to have been of 
a very primitive type. They apparently dissolved at times and then 
re,emerged for brief periods only to sink into oblivion before 1840. 

In 1816 Neriah Baptist Church was constituted near McClure's 
Iron Works about five miles northeast of Lexington. It was established 
through the efforts of Elder William Duncan of Amherst County 
and a handful of Baptists who had moved from the east of the 
Blue Ridge. In fact, William Duncan had served as pastor of a 
number of these people in Amherst County before they moved into 
Rockbridge. This body was wiser than the Buffalo Church mem, 
bership, and realized that as a minority group, they must construct 
a church building that would be a credit to the denomination. They 
also knew that they needed at least one family with commanding 
influence and prestige. They found their champions in Colonel John 
Jordan and his wife, Lucy. 

John Jordan was born in Goochland County, Virginia, on July 
2, 1777. His father, Samuel Jordan, is said to have been an ironmaker 
who helped make cannon balls for the Continental Army in the 
Revolutionary War. The Jordans were direct descendants of an 
earlier Samuel Jordan of .. Jordan's Journey," who was a member 
of the Colonial Assembly in 1619. John Jordan's father seems to 
have been a member of the Established Church. His grandfather, 
Charles Jordan, was a vestryman of St. James, Northam Parish, 
Goochland County, and a close neighbor of the rector, William 
Douglas, who wrote the Douglas Register. The mother of John 
Jordan was Frances Puryear or Perriere, daughter of Hezekiah 
Puryear of Goochland County, of French Huguenot descent. There 
must have been some Baptist influence among the Puryears since 
two of Hezekiah Puryear's children, Milly Winn Puryear and 
Hezekiah Puryear, Jr., were married by William Webber, an early 
Baptist minister. When John Jordan was a small boy, his father 
died, leaving a widow and four children. His mother then married 
Benjamin Woodson, and they lived in Fluvanna County. It is said 
that there were strained relations between John Jordan and his 
step,father. So Jordan left home as soon as he could and developed 
the self ,reliance and industry which characterized his mature life. 



On March 4, 1802, John Jordan married Lucy Winn who was 
born June 2, 1782, the daughter of John Winn, Jr. and Mary 
Bowles Winn, of Hanover County, Virginia, and probably his 
cousin. John Jordan presented an imposing appearance, standing six 
feet, three inches tall, with black eyes, black curly hair, and the 
broad shoulders of a fine athletic figure. Lucy Winn Jordan attained 
unusual height for a woman, being six feet tall, and had a reputation 
as a beautiful blonde. It has been stated that the Jordans were one 
of the handsomest couples ever seen on the streets of Lexington. 
They are said to have had twelve sons and two daughters, nearly all 
of whom grew to maturity. 

When John Jordan came to Lexington, it was an undeveloped 
country village with practically no industry. Apparently he had 
already served his apprenticeship as a bricklayer and plasterer. On 
his arrival he began work on some of the fine Lexington homes. 
His two brothers, Samuel and Hezekiah, came to Lexington in 1803 
and assisted him in his work for a time. Apparently Jordan had 
connections with people of means and influence for he soon became 
an important contractor and built some of the large buildings of that 
period in and around Lexington. His projects included Washington 
Hall, the first building at Washington College; the Lexington Arsenal; 
the :first Barracks at Virginia Military Institute and the Ann Smith 
Academy. Some of the homes which he built are Little Stono, the 
Reid White House, the Episcopal Rectory and the old VMI Hospital 
which was first used as a residence by his son, Samuel Francis Jordan. 
His own home at Jordan's Point, which he completed in 1819, em­
bodies the Greek Revival influence in architecture which he intro­
duced to Rockbridge County. So far as it is known, Jordan had no 
training in architecture, but he mastered the subject in an impressive 
manner. His buildings bear the distinctive stamp of a man of great 
originality. Samuel Darst helped with the brickwork and masonry 
on many of Jordan's buildings, but his contribution is almost forgotten 
in the light of John Jordan's greater fame. Henry Boley said of 
Jordan, "As a contractor he built everything of importance that 
was built in Lexington for more than fifty years." 

Jordan also had a part in the construction of the University of 
Virginia. Just what part he took in this enterprise is not known, 
but in a letter from Archibald Stuart to Thomas Jefferson dated 
March 9, 1819, Jordan is accused of conspiring to monopolize the 
brickwork contracts for the University. 2 Jordan may also have had 
dealings with Thomas Jefferson in his perennial improvements at 
Monticello. This is indicated in a letter which President Jefferson 
wrote to his overseer from the White House on February 7, 1806. 
It reads in part: "I conclude to let Brown go to Mr. Jordan as agreed 
between him and myself. I enclose you a letter which you may send 
to Lexington by Brown himself, for I suppose he may be relied on 
to go to him, and that is the place to which he desired me to address 
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him." And to the letter Jefferson attached a P.S. which reads: ••stick 
a wafer into the letter to Mr. Jordan after you shall have read it. "3 

Not being fully challenged by the work of a building contractor, 
Jordan went into a number of business enterprises with various 
partners, operating cotton and woolen mills, grist and flour mills, 
lumber and metal shops. He had partnerships with John Moorehead, 
John Ruff, John Irvine and others. His fame as a builder and 
businessman of varied interests spread throughout the area. 

To his prestige as a builder and businessman was added his 
military service during the War of 1812. He served in Capt. 
Archibald Lyle's Cavalry, Fifth Virginia Regiment, McDowell's 
Brigade, Virginia Militia, rising to the rank of lieutenant.4 It is said 
that he carried an unusually large sword mounted with the meltings 
of twenty silver dollars, a weapon which could not be wielded by a 
man of ordinary strength. His later title, ··colonel," was honorary. 

John Jordan was one of the leading iron masters who operated 
charcoal furnaces in Western Virginia. He formed an early partner­
ship with John Irvine in this business, and later made another con­
nection with William W. Davis. When his sons reached maturity, 
they also joined him in the iron industry. At one time the Jordans 
operated iron works in Rockbridge, Bath, Botetourt, Alleghany, 
Amherst and Louisa Counties. The family bought considerable 
tracts of land to furnish iron ore and charcoal for the furnaces. One 
of the greatest problems in marketing this pig iron was the poor 
means of transportation, so Jordan became an ardent supporter 
of roads and canals. 

Since Lexington is cradled by the Alleghany Mountains to the 
west and the Blue Ridge Mountains to the east, roadbuilding in 
these directions has always presented a problem. In Jordan's day no 
one had been successful in completing adequate roads through these 
mountains. Having business interests to the west, John Jordan backed 
a movement to build a road from Collierstown to Longdale across 
North Mountain. The road was completed in 1826 and used for 
nearly a century. Then he turned in the other direction to construct 
a road through the Blue Ridge Mountains between Lexington and 
Amherst County, an enterprise which others had attempted and 
failed to complete. When the county court hesitated to support 
the project because of the difficulties involved, the Colonel made 
this characteristic remark: "Give me men, and I will build the road." 
He fulfilled his promise. This road, known as The Jordan Trail, opened 
up trade and travel, inviting those from the Piedmont and Tidewater 
areas into Rockbridge County. 

Although he had no formal training in engineering, Jordan, in 
conjunction with John Moorehead, built a toll bridge across the 
North River at Lexington in 183 5. This structure stood until June, 
1864, when Gen. McCausland burned it to delay the approach of 
Union troops under Gen. Hunter 
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